
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

 
MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

 
To: The Members of the Liverpool City Region 
 Transport Committee 
 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Liverpool City Region Transport 
Committee to be held on Thursday, 5th November 2020 at 2.00 pm. This 
meeting is being held remotely. 
 
The meeting will be live webcast. To access the webcast please go to the 
Combined Authority’s website at the time of the meeting and follow the 
instructions on the page. 

 
If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 

 
Chief Executive  

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 
If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 
 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

 
 

TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport Committee 
held on 24 September 2020. 

  (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

4. TRANSFORMING CITIES FUND UPDATE  

 To consider the report of the Interim Director for Integrated Transport. 

  (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

5. PRIORITISING HYDROGEN BUSES IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 19 - 26) 

  

6. MERSEY FERRIES UPDATE REPORT NOVEMBER 2020  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 27 - 32) 
 

7. MULTI OPERATOR TICKETING SCHEME - PRODUCT AND PRICING 
UPDATE AND PROPOSALS  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 33 - 40) 
 

8. MERSEYTRAVEL Q2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT  

 To consider the report of Merseytravel. 

  (Pages 41 - 56) 
 
 



 

 

9. RESPONDING TO THE DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT'S 
CONSULTATION ON PAVEMENT PARKING  

 To consider the report of the Director of Policy and Strategic 
Commissioning and the Interim Director of Integrated Transport. 

  (Pages 57 - 68) 
 

10. RESPONDING TO GREATER MANCHESTER'S CLEAN AIR PLAN  

 To consider the report of the Director of Policy and Strategic 
Commissioning. 

  (Pages 69 - 76) 
 

11. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to ask questions which 
have been submitted in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 
11.  
 
A period of 30 minutes will be allocated for this item and copies of valid 
questions will be circulated at the meeting. 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit questions are asked to contact 
Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
A pro-forma will be supplied which, for this meeting must be returned by 
5.00pm on 2nd November 2020 (the Monday before the meeting). In this 
respect, return details are set out in the pro-forma. 
 

   

12. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  

 Members of the public will be given the opportunity to submit a single 
petition or statement in accordance with Meetings Standing Orders No. 11. 
 
Members of the Public who wish to submit a single petition or statement 
are asked to contact Democratic Services by either: 
Email: democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0151 330 1086 
In writing: Democratic Services, LCR Combined Authority, No.1 Mann 
Island, PO Box 1976, Liverpool, L69 3HN 
 
All petitions and statements for this meeting should be submitted to 
Merseytravel, using the contact details above, by 5.00pm on 2nd November 
2020 (the Monday before the meeting) 

mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


 

 

 

   

13. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  

   
 

 



TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

 
At a meeting of the Transport Committee held remotely on Thursday, 24th 

September, 2020 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor L Robinson 
Chairperson of the Transport Committee 

(in the Chair) 
 

Councillor 
 
P Cleary, J Dodd, G Friel, S Foulkes, H Howard, A Jones, N Killen, A Lavelle, 
M O'Mara MBE, K McGlashan, P McKinley, L Mooney, N Nicholas, J Pearson, 
G Philbin, G Stockton, J Stockton, H Thompson, M Uddin, J Williams, J Wiseman 
and F Wynn 
 
 
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON  
 

Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager opened the meeting and 
invited nominations for the appointment of Chairperson of the Transport Committee 
for the municipal year.  

 
Councillor Gordon Friel nominated Councillor Liam Robinson as the Chair of 

the Transport Committee for 2020/21 seconded by Councillor Anthony Lavelle. 
 
RESOLVED - That Councillor Liam Robinson be appointed Chairperson of 

the Transport Committee for 2020/21.  
 

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRPERSON  
 

The Chair, Councillor Liam Robinson invited nominations for the appointment 
of Deputy Chairperson of the Transport Committee for the municipal year.  

 
Councillor Liam Robinson nominated Councillor Gordon Friel as the Deputy 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee for 2020/21 seconded by Councillor 
Anthony Lavelle. 

 
RESOLVED - That Councillor Gordon Friel be appointed Deputy Chairperson 

of the Transport Committee for 2020/21.  
 

3. CHAIRPERSON'S REMARKS  
 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson informed the committee that 
Councillor Christopher Rowe and Councillor Tony Pritchard had not been 
reappointed as members of the Transport Committee for this municipal year and 
wished to formally place on record his thanks for their contribution over the past year. 
The Chairperson extended a warm welcome to Councillor Gareth Stockton from 
Halton Borough Council who had replaced Councillor Rowe.  
 

Noting that the past few months had been a challenging time for the 
Transport Sector, The Chairperson wished to formally place on record the Transport 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Committee’s thanks to everyone involved in keeping the transport network moving 
across the City Region over the course of the pandemic.  
 

The Chairperson also notified the Committee of the sad passing of two 
Merseytravel colleagues, James Geraghty and Keith ‘Jess’ Jessop who had both 
worked in Customer Delivery and served the City Region for over 30 years between 
them. The Chairperson also reflected on the tragic events of the Stonehaven Rail 
Disaster and invited members to observe a minute’s silence in memory of all of those 
who have lost their lives over the past few months.  

 
4. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors P Hayes. 

 
5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

No declarations of interest were received for the meeting. 
 

6. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the last meeting of the Transport 

Committee held on 27 February 2020, be approved as a correct record. 

 

7. COMBINED AUTHORITY CONSTITUTION, COMMITTEE TERMS OF 
REFERENCE AND MEMBERSHIP 2020/21  

 
Julie Watling, Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement Manager, 

presented the Combined Authority Constitution, Committee Terms of Reference and 
Membership 2020/21 report. The report detailed changes made to the Code of 
Conduct, Committee Terms of Reference and Membership for the municipal year.  
 

RESOLVED - That:-  
 

(i) the membership of the Transport Committee for 2020/21 be noted;  

 

(ii) the Transport Committee welcome Councillor G Stockton From Halton 

Borough Council;  

 

(iii) the Transport Committee placed on record its thanks to former 

members, Councillors Paul Pritchard and Christopher Rowe for their 

work on behalf of the Committee and their contribution to taking 

forward the transport agenda for the City Region; 

 

(iv) the responsibility for functions as set out in Part 3 of the Combined 

Authority Constitution and, in particular, those responsibilities referred 

to and delegated to the Transport Committee in Section F, detailed in 

Appendix One to the report, be noted; 

 

(v) the Meetings Standing Orders set out in Section A of Part 4 of the 

Constitution of the Combined Authority, in particular, the Remote 

Meeting Protocol detailed in Appendix Two to the report, be noted; 

 

Page 2



(vi) the contents of the Code of Conduct for Members as set out in Section 

A of Part 6 of the Constitution of the Combined Authority detailed in 

Appendix Three to the report, be noted; and 

 

(vii) appointment to the Lead member roles as outlined in paragraph 3.3 to 

the report be approved and that details of the appointed members be 

submitted to the Monitoring Officer, who will provide formal notification 

of appointments following the meeting. 

 
8. CYCLE OF MEETINGS, SPOKESPERSONS AND APPOINTMENTS TO 

OUTSIDE BODIES 2020/21  
 

Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager, presented the Cycle of 
Meetings, Spokespersons and Appointments to Outside Bodies 2020/21 report. The 
report set out a number of business matters for the municipal year including dates 
and times of the Committee meetings and detailed of the representation required for 
outside bodies.  
 

RESOLVED - That:-  
 

(i) the dates and times of the Transport Committee meetings for the 

forthcoming year be noted, and that attendance at the briefing 

sessions on transport related matters be an approved duty (Appendix 

One) be agreed; 

 

(ii) the representation and individuals to serve on Outside Bodies for the 

forthcoming year be determined, noting that these could be subject to 

change throughout the Municipal Year with the names of the Members 

to fill any outstanding vacancies following the meeting to be submitted 

to the Monitoring Officer, from which time such Members shall be 

deemed to be appointed as the Combined Authority’s representative 

(Appendix Two); 

 

(iii) spokespersons for each of the Constituent Local Authorities to answer 

questions at Council Meetings for the forthcoming year (Appendix 

Two) be appointed; 

 
(iv) the continuing appointment by the Combined Authority of the 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee, in respect of the Transport 

for the North (TfN) Partnership Board (Substitute Member), the Rail 

North Committee Member, as well as, as a member of the European 

Structural and Investment Fund Committee be noted; and 

 

(v) the appointment of the Chairperson of the Transport Committee as a 

co-opted member of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, 

holding the Transport and Air Quality portfolio on behalf of the City 

Region be noted.  
 

9. TRANSPORT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME - 2020/21  
 

Trudy Bedford, Democratic Services Manager presented the Transport 
Committee Work Programme – 2020/21. It was explained that the Work Programme 

Page 3



was a fluid document and if any urgent issues were to arise, they would be added 
accordingly. 
 

RESOLVED - That the Transport Committee Work Programme 2020/21 be 
noted.  

 
10. UPDATE ON ACTIVE TRAVEL ACTIVITY IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY 

REGION  
 

Barbara Wade, LTP Development Manager, presented an update on Active 
Travel Activity in the Liverpool City Region. 
 

It was reported that Central Government had established two tranches of the 
Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) with the first having been developed as an 
immediate response to help support the provision of ‘pop-up’ active travel measures 
during the lockdown period. The Committee heard that the Combined Authority were 
successful in bidding for £1.9 Million funding. Tranche 2 of the Emergency Active 
Travel Fund permitted the Combined Authority to put in a considerably larger bid and 
it was anticipated an outcome would be received next month.  
 

Alongside the Emergency Active Travel Fund, Central Government had also 
designed a new Active Travel strategy titled ‘Changing Gear’. The strategy placed 
significant importance on the meaningful relocation of Highway space for segregated 
cycle routes and it was reported the Combined Authority had already completed 
considerable work around this issue.  
 

Two routes from the LCR Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan, New 
Brighton – Birkenhead and Runcorn – Daresbury, had been taken forward as Phase 
Two of the Infrastructure Plan. Consultations with local stakeholders and residents 
had been undertaken for both routes and comments were in the process of being 
collated and re-designs would be made accordingly. The second stage of the 
consultation process would take place at the end of the calendar year. It was 
reported that the Combined Authority had been working with Liverpool City Council 
on the Pilot E-Scooter Scheme and the trial would take place next month.  
 

Councillor Allan Jones questioned whether the Combined Authority were 
prepared to have discussions with neighbouring authorities with regards to extending 
walking and cycling paths through from Merseyside to other areas. He explained that 
a colleague at St Helens Council was looking to extend the Rainford and Linear Park 
path into West Lancashire. It was reported that the Combined Authority were in 
discussions with other Authorities such as West Lancashire and Cheshire West and 
Chester and would ensure that contacted West Lancashire were contacted. 
 

Councillor Pat Cleary welcomed the report and stated that the Birkenhead - 
New Brighton Scheme had been ground-breaking for Wirral Residents, noting that 
this scheme enabled cyclists to complete their full journey in safety which was 
previously identified as a concern.  
 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson echoed the comments made by 
Councillor Cleary and added that one of the few positives of the last few months was 
that increased numbers of people had chosen to walk or cycle over their usual mode 
of transport. The Chairperson also noted the importance of having two-stage 
consultations and how this enabled local residents to be at the heart of the vision.  
 

RESOLVED - That:-  

Page 4



 
(i) the contents of this report and particularly, the clear policy steer from 

central Government on the need for commitment to deliver high quality 

active travel measures and to reallocate space on the highway 

network to achieve this, be noted; and 

 

(ii) a further update following the end of financial year in March 2021 

when financial spend results are available, be requested. 

 

11. KEY ROUTE NETWORK (KRN) - PROGRESS UPDATE  
 

Andy Sawyer, Key Route Network Manager, provided the Committee with a 
progress update on the Key Route Network (KRN).  
 

It was reported that an electronic Asset Management tool was being procured 
and was aimed to be implemented within the next few months. The Combined 
Authority were also procuring an External Consultant to undertake an independent 
review of Liverpool City Council’s Outline Business Case to see whether the 
proposed scheme was operationally and financially viable. The review was expected 
to be completed before the end of the Calendar Year.  
 

In relation to the Highway Infrastructure Asset Management Plan, the 
Combined Authority were seeking additional funding to develop a data collection 
system to include information such as street lighting and drainage. It was reported 
that a Central Winter Services contract was being procured for all six Local 
Authorities to deliver a consistent approach to Winter Services across the City 
Region. Alongside this, the Combined Authority had also appointed a consultant to 
develop the South Liverpool Global Gateway Outline Business Case which was 
expected to be completed within 12 months.  
 

Councillor John Stockton questioned how effective the electronic Asset 
Management tool would be, whether there was a back-up system and the total cost. 
It was explained that ELGIN already had a publicly facing system and the new 
system would include a set of bespoke modules that had been designed specifically 
for the six districts and the Combined Authority. The new system would enable the 
districts to plan more efficiently with information being sent out live to Satellite 
Navigation Systems. In terms of a back-up system, the software providers had 
quoted statistics of a 99% uptime and had a team of technicians if the system were to 
fail. Over the total three-year period the cost was expected to be in the region of 
£750,000. It was noted that detailed development, implementation and training for 
Local Authorities would be included in the total cost.   
 

The Chairperson welcomed the report and noted that great progress had 
been made. The Chair stated that the Winter Services Contract was a great example 
of how all six districts across the City Region were able to work together and looked 
forward to receiving future updates.  
 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 

12. TRANSPORT SELECT COMMITTEE CALL FOR EVIDENCE: REFORMING 
PUBLIC TRANSPORT AFTER THE PANDEMIC  

 

Page 5



Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Coordinator, presented a report on the 
Transport Select Committee Call for Evidence: Reforming Public Transport After the 
Pandemic.  
 

The Committee heard that the report presented the draft written submission to 
the Transport Select Committee and the deadline for submissions was close of play 
on 24 September 2020. Suzanne Cain, Transport Policy Coordinator, welcomed 
comments on the written submission from the Transport Committee.   
 

Councillor Steve Foulkes queried whether as part of the submission it could 
be requested that Central Government commission an independent piece of work to 
advise on the transmission of Covid-19 on public transport. It was highlighted that 
there had been no research of this nature carried out to date and the results would 
be extremely useful to aid future decision making. The request was acknowledged 
and it was suggested that Paragraph 17 on page 104 could be moved to come 
immediately after Paragraph 5 and additional wording be included to read; “We also 
call on the Government to undertake detailed research into the transmission of 
Covid-19 on public transport so we can more fully understand the potential risk of 
infection on trains and buses. We understand the need to observe social distancing 
where possible and that viruses can contaminate surfaces in closed spaces, but it is 
not known how that translates into new infections. This will allow more positive 
messaging on the general safety of public transport and helping us in building back 
better based on actual scientific evidence”.  
 

Councillor Steve Foulkes stated he was happy with the wording and 
supported it being added to the submission.  
 

The Chairperson fully endorsed the proposed wording as suggested by 
Suzanne Cain and Councillor Foulkes and welcomed the submission to the Transport 
Select Committee.  
 

RESOLVED - That:-  
 

(i) the Transport Committee endorse the draft written evidence 
submission to the Transport Select Committee Call for Evidence as 
appended to this report, with the following amendment:- 

 
 Paragraph 17 on page 104  be moved to follow immediately after  
 Paragraph 5 and the additional wording below be included to read; 
“We also call on the Government to undertake detailed research into 
the transmission of Covid-19 on public transport so we can more fully 
understand the potential risk of infection on trains and buses. We 
understand the need to observe social distancing where possible and 
that viruses can contaminate surfaces in closed spaces, but it is not 
known how that translates into new infections. This will allow more 
positive messaging on the general safety of public transport and 
helping us in building back better based on actual scientific evidence”; 
and  

 
(ii) delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director of Policy and 

Strategic Commissioning, in conjunction with the Chairperson of the 
Transport Committee, to agree the final response for submission on 
behalf of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority before close of 
play on 24 September 2020. 

 

Page 6



13. HALF YEAR BUS UPDATE  
 

Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, presented the Half Year Bus Update 
report provided information on key bus issues relating to the first and second 
quarters of 2020/21. 
  

It was reported that the Combined Authority had been working closely with 
Bus Operators on a collective response to the challenges posed by Covid-19. The 
Committee heard that additional measures taken on public transport included social 
distancing, capacity reductions, enhanced cleaning and mandatory face coverings.  
 

Matt Goggins outlined some of the key statistics around Covid-19 and the bus 
network: 

- the total numbers of buses on the network was 110%  

- patronage levels were at 60% 

- 80 dedicated ‘S’ buses for schools to relieve pressure on the rest of the 

network 

- Only 2-3% of buses running late, a 15% improvement on normal punctuality 

It was reported that the ‘Bus Passenger Survey’ results had shown that overall 
passenger satisfaction had increased to 92% which was the highest of all the English 
Metropolitan areas. The Committee heard that the Bus Alliance had submitted their 
Outline Business Case to improve bus journeys through the Green Bus Routes 
Programme through an initial investment to the St Helens – Liverpool corridors. 
Furthermore, the ‘Hybus’ trial was progressing and consultants had joined the project 
to advise the team as they looked to place an order for 20 hydrogen powered buses 
later in the financial year. It was reported that some of the funding required for The 
Bus Reform Project was not made available by the Combined Authority and therefore 
the Bus Team had completed re-programming with the funding available. The 
Committee were informed they would receive further updates in due course.  
 

Councillor Frances Wynn expressed concerns over anti-social behaviour on the 
bus network and non-compliance with face coverings, especially amongst younger 
age groups. It was reported that face coverings were mandatory for any individuals 
aged 11 and above unless they had medical exemptions. There were relatively low 
levels of compliance when the rule was first introduced and a series of actions were 
taken to improve this, involving Police Operations and stronger messaging. As a 
result of these measures compliance had improved, with the Liverpool City Region 
having one of the highest compliance levels within the UK. Since Schools had 
returned there were again lower levels of compliance, however, the Combined 
Authority had written to local Headteachers and restarted Police Operations on the 
network.  It was hoped these measures would improve compliance. 
 

A Motion was moved by Councillor Gordon Friel and seconded by Councillor 
John Wiseman.  
  
            That:- 
  
           This committee notes the hard work and efforts of all staff across the Liverpool 
City Region’s Transport Network throughout the COVID 19 Pandemic.  
 

This has encompassed efforts including the introduction of social distancing 
requirements, the requirement of passengers to wear face coverings, the Rethink 
Travel Campaign and many more elements. This committee believes that clear and 

Page 7



consistent government advice and guidance is a keyway of addressing the pandemic 
and reducing the spread of infection.  
 

As a key part of this, this committee requests that officers write to government 
calling for investigation of the extension of mandatory wearing of face masks on all 
busses that transport school children, including dedicated school bus services that 
are currently exempt, given the great concerns expressed by drivers and their union 
unite. 
 

The Committee discussed the motion and agreed that Matt Goggins would 
offer advice on wording to ensure that the most effective letter be delivered to the 
Government.  
 

Councillor Allan Jones wished to add that the motion had his full support.  
 

RESOLVED - That This Committee therefore resolved to:- 

(i) request that Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, provide advice 
on the wording of the letter to be submitted to Government; and  

 
(ii) once finalised, the letter be submitted to Central Government calling 

for an investigation of the extension of mandatory wearing of face 
coverings on all buses that transport school children.  

The Motion was put, carried and it was Resolved Accordingly 
 

Councillor Nathalie Nicholas questioned whether there were any statistics 
relating to face covering compliance in the Region and which areas were highest in 
terms of compliance. It was explained that in general, there was over 90% 
compliance with face coverings on the network although the return of schools had 
meant that compliance levels had recently dropped.  
 

Councillor John Stockton thanked Matt Goggins for the report and wished to 
pay tribute to the front-line workers for all their hard work and commitment over the 
course of the pandemic. Councillor Stockton wished to place on record the Transport 
Committee’s condolences to the family and friends of the front-line workers who had 
tragically lost their lives. 
 

The Chairperson echoed these comments by Councillor John Stockton, 
noting that the report highlighted the need for added finance. The Chairperson 
emphasised the strong belief for additional devolved monies to be released to the 
Combined Authority, as mentioned in the report, to be able to put together a more 
integrated approach and deliver better value for money for the local taxpayer.  
 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted.  
 

14. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 

Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director for Finance, presented the Financial 
Performance Report which provided an update on Merseytravel’s revenue and 
capital performance. It was explained that due to the pandemic and the slight hiatus 
in Transport Committee meetings the report encompassed both the outturn position 
of 2019/2020 and the revenue and capital position in the First Quarter 2020/2021.  
 

Page 8



The first section of the report detailed the 2019/2020 financial position, noting 
that the revenue outturn for the year was £114.95m and after application of approved 
grants there was a small surplus of £1.7m which was transferred to reserves. It was 
reported that a significant proportion of the reserves were transferred to The Beatles 
Story profit and loss reserve and the remainder had been transferred to specific 
reserves to deal with the impact of Covid-19.  
 

The second section of the report depicted the Quarter 1 Performance 2020/21 
with members noting the unusual position that an overspend was recorded against 
profile budget for the First Quarter. It was explained that although a negative 
variance of £111,000 could appear modest, the figure masked some of the more 
significant overspends against some of the key frontline services. A re-budgeting 
exercise was taking place to manage the issue as well as capital spend which was 
reported to be lower than usual. 
 

The final section of the report detailed the financial reserves position for 
Merseytravel and the key financial risks the organisations faced, with members 
noting that the operating environment for Merseytravel would be challenging over the 
next 12 months. 
 

Councillor Steve Foulkes, Lead Member of Finance, noted that the 
organisation was in a difficult situation with a predicted overspend but wished to 
advise the Committee that before they began a strategic look at the budget headings, 
they were fully supportive of an approach to Government for more financial support. 
Councillor Foulkes wished to formally place on record the Transport Committee’s 
thanks to all those involved in keeping the Combined Authority operating over the 
course of the pandemic.  
 

The Chairperson echoed comments made by Councillor Steve Foulkes and 
thanked officers for the comprehensive report, noting that the full financial impact of 
Covid-19 was still unclear, and it would be extremely important to monitor the impact 
going forward.  
 

RESOLVED - That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

15. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 

The committee received two questions from Mr Peter Jackson as follows:  
 
Question 1 
What is the current update on contactless ticketing and smart ticketing for 
Merseyrail? 
 

The Chairperson, Councillor Liam Robinson, gave a short response affirming 
Merseyrail had completed considerable work around smart and contactless ticketing 
and explained a detailed, formal written response would be provided within 10 
working days.  
 
Question 2 
Why isn't the Bus Hub opening as soon as it is complete? 
 

The Chairperson responded by stating that the key reason behind the delay 
was due to operational snagging and explained a detailed, formal written response 
would be provided within 10 working days.  
 

Page 9



The Chair thanked Mr Peter Jackson for submitting his questions. 
 

16. PETITIONS AND STATEMENTS  
 

There were no petitions or statements received. 
 

17. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR  
 

There were no items of urgent business. 
 
 
 
 

 
Minutes 1 to 17 received as a correct record on the 5 day of November 2020. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson of the Transport Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 15:36 pm) 
 
 

 

Page 10



 

 

LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: Not in respect of the Report 

Appendix 1 is exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 

 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM DIRECTOR FOR INTEGRATED TRANSPORT  
 

TRANSFORMING CITIES FUND UPDATE 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
The purpose of this report is to update the Transport Committee on the 
Transforming Cities Fund Programme. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the contents of the report. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) has secured £172.5 million 

in capital grant from the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) for local transport 
investment over a 5 year period to the end of the 2022/23 financial year. The aim of 
the fund is to support programmes of interlinking interventions which will transform 
sustainable transport connectivity in key commuter routes in major city regions. The 
funding forms part of the wider Strategic Investment Fund (SIF). 
 

3.2. In July 2018, the LCRCA agreed a commissioning plan to guide its approach to 
managing TCF.  Three priority themes were agreed to set parameters for the 
funding:- 
 
a) Theme 1: Improving and expanding the public transport network to meet new 

areas of demand; 
b) Theme 2: Improving the appeal of public transport, and particularly bus, against 

private transport; and 
c) Theme 3: Intervening for health and wellbeing. 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s27419/Item%208%20-%20Report%20and%20Appendix.pdf


 

 

 
 
3.3. To assist Project Sponsors to understand the TCF process and requirements, 

LCRCA         officers are actively supporting in a collaborative manner, providing 
regular advice, guidance and support so that the projects under TCF can deliver the 
outcomes needed by the City Region.   
 

3.4. The TCF Programme has an agreed governance model and regular Board 
meetings to monitor business case development and delivery. The Director of 
Corporate Resources is the TCF Programme Sponsor and the Interim Director of 
Integrated Transport is the Lead Officer. Every Project Sponsor is required to 
submit a monthly reporting dashboard to enable the Board to challenge and support 
delivery.  This forum acts as a decision making body and a place for issues to be 
escalated and resolved, and has helped drive progress across the programme. 

 
Delivery to date 

3.5. In the past 12 months the programme has seen the completion of the first phase of 
the Smart Ticketing Programme and the beginning of the delivery of the Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, both designed to help make sustainable 
travel options more appealing and encourage healthier lifestyles.   

 
3.6. The TCF programme is also currently funding the delivery of a 120km full fibre 

network along the Merseyrail system, enabling the full technological capability of the 
new state-of-the-art, locally owned train fleet to be utilised for the benefit of 
passengers, including the roll out of high quality universal Wi-Fi along the network.  
In addition to this, the programme is funding the trial of battery technology on the 
new fleet, which if successful, will help improve the reliability and sustainability of 
the Merseyrail network, and create opportunities in the future for the expansion and 
improvement of rail services across the City Region. 

 
3.7. In Halton TCF funding is key to the regeneration of the Runcorn Station Quarter, 

which will take advantage of the highway network changes resulting from the 
construction of the new Mersey Gateway Bridge.  This project has already removed 
the defunct road viaducts around Runcorn Station and the Silver Jubilee Bridge, 
and will deliver a new ‘Piazza’ area outside Runcorn Station that will offer inviting, 
high quality public realm helping to deliver an improved sense of place and facilitate 
modal transfer between the station, buses and taxis.  It also provides the 
opportunity for further sustainable economic development through bringing forward 
the opportunity for mixed use development which takes advantage of the West 
Coast Mainline rail connectivity at Runcorn. 

 
Planned work 

3.8. It is a priority of the LCRCA to accelerate into delivery over the next 12 months the 
majority of the remaining TCF projects, and to maximise the time available for 
successful completion of these schemes.   

 
3.9. This will include bringing forwards proposals for 2 new low-carbon ferries for the 

iconic Mersey Ferries service.  This project is supported by works currently 
underway to refurbish the Seacombe ferry terminal, and together will help secure 
the long-term future of the service, which has operated for over 800 years. 

 
 

Page 12



 

 

 
3.10. The TCF programme is accelerating the transformation of bus services along the 

key strategic 10A corridor, with the purchase of a hydrogen powered bus fleet, 
which will benefit from significant investment in the latest generation of traffic signal 
technologies and sustainable transport priority measures to deliver a step change in 
bus services, and create a blueprint for wider investment in bus across the City 
Region. 

 
3.11. The Merseyrail network is a key strategic asset for the City Region, and TCF 

funding is being investing heavily in expanding access to the railway, with plans for 
the new station at Headbolt Lane moving towards delivery during 2022/23, and the 
proposed St James station on track for 2023/24.  Investment in access 
improvements will see enhancements at 5 stations so that all passengers can 
access the network safely and equitably. 

 
3.12. LCRCA is working closely with Local Authority partners to deliver coordinated 

interventions in previously under-served and under-developed areas.  Plans around 
Birkenhead Central and Lea Green Stations will help realise over 1,000 new houses 
on brownfield land, connected to the rail and bus network by high quality active 
travel infrastructure, embedding the principles of Build Back Better into new, 
sustainable communities. 

 
3.13. The next phase of the ambitious LCR Cycle Network will help build upon and 

consolidate the significant increases in walking and cycling seen during the 
pandemic, with high quality infrastructure being provided to link people and places, 
encouraging healthy, and crucially safe, travel choices. 

 
3.14. To help deliver on the LCRCA’s commitment to be a net-zero carbon city region by 

2040 TCF funding is being invested in the City Region’s traffic signal infrastructure, 
to improve the efficiency of the equipment and build upon our existing air quality 
monitoring network to help target our efforts in the future. 

 
3.15. Finally, investment in the long term opportunities for both the redevelopment of 

Liverpool Central Station and a new high-speed rail terminus in Liverpool City 
Centre demonstrate the LCRCA’s commitment to transforming the interconnectivity 
of the City Region, enabling the economy to grow sustainably and help level up the 
country. 

 
3.16. The scope and scale of these projects reflects the ambitions of the City Region to 

Build Back Better and deliver sustainable and healthy places to live.  This also 
means that the LCRCA and partners are developing proposals which will require an 
additional £140 million in funding if the full scope and benefits to the City Region are 
to be delivered.   This has been an intentional over-programming strategy since the 
beginning of the fund, and will help demonstrate to Government that the City Region 
has a portfolio of ‘shovel ready’ projects that can be funded during the recovery 
from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The current position of the programme is summarised 
in Appendix 1. 

 
  

Page 13



 

 

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
There are no financial implications resulting from this report. 
 

4.2. Human Resources 
 
There are no human resources implications resulting from this report. 

 
4.3. Physical Assets 
 

There are no implications on physical assets resulting from this report. 
 
4.4. Information Technology 
 

There are no implications for Information Technology resulting from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1. The LCRCA’s Programme Management Office ensures that expenditure, 

milestones, risk and impact of each project that is delivered in the Transforming 
Cities Fund Programme, is measured, monitored and reported. 

 
5.2. To ensure compliance, the LCRCA’s Resources and Investment  

Directorate teams are working collaboratively to develop the programme. 
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. The equality and diversity implications of individual projects have been and will 

continue to be fully considered as part of developing business case stages through 
to delivery. 
 

 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1. There are no privacy implications in relation to this report. 
 

 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1. Communications plans to support the TCF programme, and the individual projects, 

are in development and Corporate Communications are invited to attend Board 
meetings in advance of key gateway decisions. Communications strategies are built 
around the individual schemes primarily, with overarching key messages throughout 
all the programmes in relation to TCF aims/objectives. 

  

Page 14



 

 

 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1. This report has highlighted the progress made in the development of the TCF 

Programme, and outlines the plans for the successful delivery of the projects during 
the recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
 
 

SHANE FITZPATRICK 
Interim Director of Integrated Transport 

 
Contact Officer(s):  
Adam Price, TCF Programme Manager, adam.price@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – TCF Programme Current Position 
 
Background Documents:  
None 

Page 15

mailto:adam.price@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL  
 

PRIORITISING HYDROGEN BUSES IN THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 The purpose of this report is to update the Chair and Members of the Transport 

Committee on the current status of both the Merseytravel Hydrogen Bus Project 
(HyBus Trial) and Green Bus Routes – a package of bus prioritisation measures 
and improvements which aim to transform bus travel in the City Region. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Transport Committee: 
 

(a) Note the contents of the report; and 
 
(b) Support the two projects highlighted in this report out in their communities  

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Strategic rationale and policy drivers  

 
3.1.1 In November 2018, Liverpool City Region (LCR) Metro Mayor, Steve Rotheram, 

declared a climate emergency across the city region and announced an intention 
for the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) to become carbon 
neutral by 2040.   

 
3.1.2 Air quality across the city region is of particular concern, often with the most 

vulnerable individuals in our communities being those more likely to be exposed to 
higher levels of air pollution. Liverpool City Region has eleven declared Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs), including an area encompassing the whole of the 
City of Liverpool and four in St Helens.  Despite the projected future improvements 
in air pollution concentrations from 2011 to 2030, the economic health impact 
costs in the Liverpool City Region over a lifetime are still between £170 to £480 
million on average per year.   

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



3.1.3 Globally, transport accounts for 14% of greenhouse gas emissions and investing 
in the low carbon sector and reducing carbon emissions is both a city region and a 
national priority.  

 
3.1.4 The Vision for Bus, approved by the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) in July 2019, built on the success of the LCR Bus Alliance and results of 
the Big Bus Debate.  The need to invest in bus priority infrastructure to provide a 
punctual and reliable bus network, serviced by a high-spec zero emission bus 
fleet, were key components of this vision and their delivery seen as key priorities 
to grow bus patronage and reduce dependence on the private car. 

 
3.1.5 Buses are critical to the LCR providing access to work, education, leisure, and 

healthcare, often with the most deprived residents relying most on bus services. 
With 80% of public transport journeys made by bus, they will be an important 
element of the LCR’s economic recovery post Covid-19. 

 
3.1.6 To realise improved punctuality elements of the Vision for Bus, the Green Bus 

Routes programme was devised. The vision is to improve connectivity and journey 
times between communities in the Liverpool City Region along with the end to end 
journey experience for passengers. The complimentary HyBus Trial will deliver a 
model for procuring and managing zero emission buses. 

 
3.1.7 It is the aspiration that both projects will be rolled out across the LCR bus network, 

but initially they will transform bus travel along route 10/10A between St Helens 
and Liverpool City Centre.  

 
3.1.8 Both projects are progressing as Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Commissioned 

projects and business cases for both are currently under development to prove the 
strategic, economic, commercial and financial cases to utilise this devolved 
funding to transform the bus offer in the city region starting with this trial on one 
route  
 

3.1.9 Route 10/10A runs from St Helens into Liverpool City Centre. It is a high frequency 
route with more than 2 million passenger journeys year and in recent years has 
experienced considerable delays as a result of increased congestion; the round 
trip from St Helens to Liverpool, taking 24 minutes longer (pre-COVID) than it did 
three years ago.   

 
3.2 Green Routes 
 
3.2.1 The Green Bus Routes programme was developed as an improvement package to 

transform five key corridors along the LCR Key Route Network. Its overarching 
aim is to create an attractive and efficient mass transit alternative to the private 
car. 

 
3.2.2 To identify Green Bus Routes:  

 

 All bus routes were reviewed, to identify those with high frequency and 
high patronage.   
 

 Analysis of additional journey times on each route since 2013/14 was 
undertaken. 

Page 20



 A review of the number of services running along each corridor was 
conducted to review the wider impact of any improvements. 
 

 Routes were placed in the context of areas of new development to be sure 
that routes identified connected key growth sites.  
 

 A review of the strategic importance of the corridors and any other projects 
which were being delivered along them, was conducted. 

 
3.2.3 The result of this process was the identification of five initial Green Bus Route 

Corridors which were ranked in order of patronage, frequency and strategic 
importance (see below).  Along each corridor a common route – one route that 
runs for the whole length of the corridor and extends beyond it - was then 
identified for intervention on the basis that, if improvements were made, they 
would benefit the greatest number of bus routes and passengers.  These corridors 
and routes are:  

 

 The A57 corridor connects Liverpool City Centre with St Helens (10/10A); 
 

 The A562 corridors connects Liverpool City Centre with Speke and John 
Lennon airport (86/86A); 
 

 The A567 corridor connects Liverpool City Centre with Bootle and Crosby 
(53). 
 

 The B5178 corridor connects Liverpool City Centre with Halewood/Widnes 
(79/79C); 
 

 The A59 corridor connects Liverpool City Centre with Kirkby, Tower Hill 
and Northwood (20/21) 

 
3.2.4 Green Bus Routes Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



3.2.5 Since August 2019 work has been underway to develop Route Improvement Plans 
for three of the key corridors above; A57, A562 and A567.  However, given that 
Transforming Cities Funding needs to be expended by 31 March 2023 and the 
scale of the work required for each corridor, the 10A corridor has been prioritised 
for investment with an Outline Business Case (OBC) submitted to the LCR 
Investment Team on 24 July 2020. 

 
3.2.6 Given the TCF delivery timescales a refinement exercise has taken place to define 

interventions which are feasible to be delivered within current TCF window.  This 
exercise indicates c.£32m of candidate schemes to progress to Full Business 
Case (FBC) stage.  This includes 49 traffic signal upgrades, 18 priority lanes, 14 
parking/ loading enforcement reviews, 2 red routes, 3 bus-stop build outs and 1 
strategic rerouting study 

 
3.2.7 Further work is required to develop the FBC to take the project to delivery 

readiness.  FBC support has been commissioned via Lot 12 of the Merseytravel 
Consultancy Framework and it is aimed to appoint a lead consultant mid-
November.   

 
3.2.8 Work is ongoing with the LCRCA Communication, Engagement and Marketing and 

Government Relations and Public Affairs Teams to further develop communication 
and stakeholder plans.  Co-development with Highway Authorities and full 
statutory consultation with affected residents and businesses will be required at 
detailed design stage.  This will be led by the lead consultant and supported by the 
LCRCA teams as required.   

 
3.2.9 Making space for buses and prioritising them along our road network should 

increase patronage and reduce peak vehicle requirements along those routes, 
both of which will increase the route’s commercial performance. Better commercial 
performance facilitates further investment from operators into the Bus Alliance 
Business and Investment Plan.   

 
3.3 Merseytravel HyBus Trial  
 
3.3.1 The trial project will deliver the first fleet of Hydrogen Fuel Cell Electric Buses 

(FCEB) in the North of England and the first Hydrogen Refuelling Station (HRS) of 
scale (at the BOC Linde site in St Helens). Twenty buses will operate on Route 
10/10A – St Helens to Liverpool City centre, refuelling at the BOC Linde HRS on a 
daily basis.   

 
3.3.2 Pre-development funding has been provided through TCF to support the 

development of the project.  The funding has been used to secure the appointment 
of both legal and technical consultants. The consultants are supporting 
Merseytravel in the development of a robust model that can be used to roll-out 
further zero emission buses, across the network, in partnership with operators.   

 
3.3.3 The project team have identified a procurement route and pre-tender, market 

engagement events have taken place with Bus Manufactures  
 
3.3.4 An OBC has been drafted, consultancy support has been procured and a 

Memorandum of Understanding to shape partnership working and information 
exchange, between Merseytravel, Stagecoach and Arriva, has been agreed.   

Page 22



 
3.3.5 The trial will allow project stakeholders to test the feasibility of bus ownership and 

operation using this model.  In this structure, the public sector will procure and own 
the buses, which are then leased to the operators.   

 
3.3.6 The Project is looking to mirror the customer engagement model used by the 

Merseytravel Rolling Stock programme in giving customers a say in the design of 
their buses and has to date held a series of focus groups to shape the emerging 
technical specification.   

 
3.3.7 The LCR’s journey to a zero-emission fleet has started.  Today’s fleet of 1,094 

includes 106 (diesel/electric) hybrid vehicles, 19 CNG (Compressed Natural Gas) 
and 12 electric buses. Of the remaining 957 diesel and biodiesel vehicles, 267 are 
Euro 6, and 131 buses are being fitted with emissions traps to covert then to the 
Euro 6 standard. A further 3 buses ae currently being converted to full electric 
powertrains.  Euro 6 diesel legislation means that NOx (nitrogen oxide) emissions 
are reduced to 0.26g/kwh, representing a 75% improvement on Euro 5 limits, with 
PM (particulate matter – the mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets found in 
the air) down to 0.01 g/kwh, around 95% lower than Euro 5.   

 
3.3.8 Hydrogen is seen by government as a key lever to deliver decarbonisation and its 

potential is rapidly gaining momentum in the UK and globally. The time is 
opportune to accelerate the development of the LCR hydrogen economy. The 
region can be pivotal in being an early mover in the development of the use of 
hydrogen in the journey to net zero.   

 
3.3.9 The Region has significant advantages when considering the development of a 

hydrogen economy.  Hydrogen production is not new technology; LCR is home to 
a number of hydrogen production sites including INOVYN, BOC Linde, ESSAR (at 
Stanlow) and CF Fertilizers.  Some of these producers have excess hydrogen that 
can be utilised in LCR.   The innovation lies in how hydrogen is applied to 
contribute to net zero.  LCR’s chemical industry is well developed with an existing 
skill set and knowledge base. This can provide the foundation for further 
employment opportunities and skills development. Furthermore, there are 
geographical advantages, such as sub-surface storage opportunities both in salt 
caverns and offshore.  There are several industrial scale hydrogen production, 
collaboration, distribution and storage projects already underway and the learnings 
from these will support and inform the regional hydrogen economy development. 
HyBus is part of that journey.   

 
3.4 Benefits of a joint approach 
 
 Delivering these projects initially along the same single bus route will benefit both 

projects and the wider city region. It will provide a trial project that can be 
evaluated, developed and scaled up.  The bus priority infrastructure and allocated 
road space proposed under Green Routes, will provide the connected, punctual 
and reliable services required for increased patronage. This will deliver reductions 
in Peak Vehicle Requirements (PVR) which means that less buses will be required 
to deliver the same service. This reduces the capital investment needed for new, 
high spec, zero emission vehicles.   

 
 

Page 23



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 
 
 There are no financial resources implications resulting from this report or its 

recommendations.  
 
4.2. Human Resources 
 
 There are no human resources implications resulting from this report. 
 
4.3. Physical Assets 
 
 There are no implications for physical assets resulting from this report or its 

recommendations with the ultimate decision to procure the buses being made 
upon completion of the Full Business Case  

 
4.4. Information Technology 
 
 There are no implications for information technology resulting from this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION  
 
 Both projects have closely monitored risk and opportunity registers and TCF 

dashboards are submitting to the PMO on a monthly basis.  
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 The equality and diversity implications of the projects will continue to be 

considered as the project develops. 
 
 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no potential privacy implications as a result of this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 Both project teams are working closely with Corporate Communications and 

Corporate Engagement to finalise Communication Plans which engage a broad 
range of Stakeholders. 

 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
 This report proves an update on the status of both the Merseytravel Hydrogen Bus 

Project (HyBus Trial) and Green Routes – a package of bus prioritisation 
measures and improvements which aim to transform bus travel in the City Region. 
It provides information on how running the two projects in parallel and along the 

Page 24



same bus route, will benefit both projects individually and the opportunity to scale 
them up and roll out to other bus routes in the future.   

 
 

MATT GOGGINS 
Assistant Director for Bus 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Matt Goggins, Assistant Director for Bus, matthew.goggins@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk    
Laura Needham, Bus Strategy Programme Manager, laura.needham@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk  
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, 
joanna.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk  
Amy Turner, Programme Development Officer, amy.turner@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk 
Antonia de Winter, Co-Head of Investment, Antonia.Dewinter@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices: 
None 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 25

mailto:matthew.goggins@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:laura.needham@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:laura.needham@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:joanna.sawyer@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:amy.turner@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:laura.needham@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk
mailto:laura.needham@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

MERSEY FERRIES UPDATE NOVEMBER 2020 
 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 This report is aimed at providing a summary of key activities within the Mersey 

Ferries, including an update on progress of the long-term Mersey Ferries Strategy. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Transport Committee note the contents of the report. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The details within this report provide an update of key activities at Mersey Ferries 

over the last 12 months, including work associated with our response and recovery 
from the Covid-19 outbreak. For details on specific performance on passenger 
numbers and financials, please refer to the corporate quarterly performance report. 

 
 Operational Update and Performance 
 
3.2 Work had progressed well over the Autumn and Winter period of 2019/20, preparing 

the vessels for their annual survey and planning arrangements for our busy summer 
season planned for 2020. The plans saw the highest ever number of special cruises 
planned on the river, including evening cruises, Manchester Ship Canal Cruises and 
Liverpool Bay Cruises. 

 
3.3 The detailed planning was interrupted with the outbreak of Covid-19, which resulted 

in a reduction and eventual closure of Mersey Ferry services. The River Explorer 
(our daily leisure cruise) was cancelled on 24 March 2020 following the national 
lockdown announcement and the service moved to a cross river commuter service. 
Following the low number of passengers and reducing demand, the service was 
suspended fully 30 March 2020 – see chart below for reduction in demand. 

 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



 

  
 
 
 
3.4 During lockdown, regular visits to our terminals and vessels were undertaken, until 

the service was re-instated to a cross river service, operating between Seacombe 
and Pier Head, on 14 May 2020. Services initially operated on a weekday and over 
the first 4 weeks gradually stepped up to its current level of service, operating a full 
commuter service between the hours of 7.20am and 10am, and again from 4pm to 
7pm on a Monday to Friday. Between these hours of a weekday, and from 10am to 
5pm on a weekend, the service offers hourly cross river services between Liverpool 
and Seacombe. 

 
3.5  Patronage levels showed a steady increase throughout June, July and into August, 

but following an increase in Covid-19 cases we saw patronage begin to drop in 
September 2020. The attached graph below helps to show the the demand since 
the service commenced on 14 May 2020. 

 

  
 
 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

w/e 14/3/20 w/e 21/3/20 w/e 28/3/20 w/e 5/4/20

March - Commuter 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

Weekly Passenger Numbers 

Commuter am Mid Commuter pm

Page 28



3.6 At the outset of the Covid-19 outbreak, the team were taking monthly decisions in 
terms of the provision or cancellation of special cruises, such as our Manchester 
Ship Canal cruises or our evening cruises. However, as the Covid-19 initial 
lockdown and subsequent restrictions have extended into the summer, the team 
have taken a difficult decision to cancel all leisure cruises for the 2020 season and 
commence planning for 2021. 

 
3.7 Services continue to operate on a cross river basis only between Seacombe and 

Pier Head and planning has already started for the 2021 season. The approach will 
be light touch initially, with the ability to step up should demand return – with details 
being reviewed further early in 2021. 

 
3.8 The Pier Head continues to suffer with an accumulation of sand, requiring 

significant dredging on a periodic basis. During the cancellation of services in April/ 
May 2020, the organisation took advantage by commissioning extensive dredging in 
and around the Pier Head landing stage to ensure service could be maintained. 
Despite this positive intervention, we have seen depths reduce since resulting in 
loss of service at very low tides. Officers are working towards regular dredging to 
alleviate this issue. 

 
 Ferries Strategy Update 
 
3.9 In terms of the new Vessels, the team have re-commenced the procurement 

process and entered into a second ‘Best and Final Offer’ (BAFO) stage. In effect, 
this will see the remaining bidders go through a period of dialogue aimed at making 
potential financial savings, and submitting revised bids based on our outline 
requirements. 

 
3.10 This refresh of the procurement process means we are approximately 12 months 

behind the original programme, which saw the vessels launched on the Mersey in 
2021. However, a refreshed programme is not available at this stage until the 
procurement programme is complete, the commission confirmed and the winning 
bidders programme is confirmed in detail. 

 
3.11 As part of the longer-term strategy interventions, the team have also been working 

hard on the refurbishment of the Seacombe landing stage, and renewal of the 
linkspan bridges. 

 
3.12 Following a competitive procurement process earlier this year, a contractor has 

been appointed for the first stage of the design process – ensuring early contractor 
involvement and the ability to de-risk the relevant refurbishment and new build 
process. This design stage has progressed but has identified a number of additional 
works, which has delayed the overall programme by around 12 weeks. However, it 
remains on target in terms of financial performance and stage of the award, 
including confirmed construction dates, is imminent. 

 
3.13 Preparation is underway at Woodside Terminal (including U Boat Story) to reopen 

on the first working day of 2021 as the Seacombe Stage will not be operational from 
that point. A Communications and Social Media campaign will start on 2nd 
November for the public and stakeholders 

 

Page 29



3.14 In respect of the Woodside terminal, following previous recommendations via this 
Committee, officers continue to work with colleagues in Wirral council to ensure any 
longer-term decisions are linked to Wirral Council’s long-term plans for the area. 
The organisation is awaiting Wirral Council’s long-term plans for the Woodside area 
before confirming our approach for the terminal, the landing stage (which has a life 
expectancy of 2 years maximum) and the service itself. 

 
3.15 The work with Eureka Mersey! has progressed well, with the Grant funding 

Agreement and Agreement for leases now in place. The programme has been 
delayed due to Covid-19, with work expected to start on site in March 2021. 

  
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 

 
There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. The details of 
financial performance are reported corporately in the quarterly performance report, 
aimed at supplementing this report. The Mersey Ferries Programme Board 
continues to ensure long term planning to fund the various interventions identified 
within the strategy. Any formal approvals for expenditure will be via the 
Merseytravel meeting as required. 

 
4.2. Human Resources 
 

There are no HR related issues associated with this report. Staff will of course be 
fully engaged with any new vessel proposals during the procurement process. 
 

4.3. Physical Assets 
 

Projects associated with the assets within Mersey Ferries are summarised within 
this update report and Asset Management colleagues are key members of the 
project teams. 
 

4.4. Information Technology 
 

There are no issues associated with Information technology within this report. 
 
4.5 PMO Implications 
 
 The Mersey Ferries long term strategy is a key project for Merseytravel and the 

Combined Authority, and so the programme is monitored in detail through regular 
monthly dashboard reports. 

 
  

Page 30



 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 The increasing risk linked to the Mersey Ferry operations is the reliability of the 

existing vessels. Both are now 60 years old, and despite investment and effective 
maintenance over their life, the vessels performance had shown a worrying trend of 
loss of service for technical faults. To address this, the Ferry strategy aims to 
mitigate many of these risks in the longer term, and in the short term the operational 
activities are focussing on how we improve reliability and ensure we protect the 
Ferries brand moving forward. During the 2019 season, the level of service 
provision has demonstrated the short-term success of these changes. 

 
5.2 The Ferries long term strategy has a Programme Board, with a specific risk register 

aimed at understanding and mitigating the key risks associated with the identified 
interventions. Officers review this monthly to monitor changes and ensure 
appropriate responses to any change. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

As the report is for noting only and does not require any formal decisions, an 
Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed in this case. However, a key 
element of the vessels design process will involve engagement with a diverse range 
of service users, aimed at ensuring appropriate views are taken into account for all 
protected characteristics. In particular, work has already commenced via the 
organisations Access Officer on outline design of the new vessels, and this will 
continue during the design and construction phase. 
 

 
7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

There are no privacy implications associated with this report. 
 

 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

The information contained within this report is linked closely to communication plans 
in key projects to ensure key customer and stakeholder engagement where 
relevant. 

 
  

Page 31



 
9. CONCLUSION 
 

This report summarises key activities within the Mersey Ferries to ensure Members 
are aware of topical and relevant issues, along with progress of activities included 
within the relevant service plan and strategy. 

 
 

GARY EVANS 
Assistant Director Customer Delivery 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Gary Evans, Assistant Director Customer Delivery, Merseytravel, 0151 330 4502 
David Poole, Customer Operations Manager 0151 330 1461 
Ian Hayman, Marine Operations Manager 0151 330 1451 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, Merseytravel, 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
None 
 
Background Documents:  
 
Mersey Ferries Long Term Strategy 
 

Page 32



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee,  
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All districts 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL  
 

MULTI-OPERATOR TICKETING SCHEME –  
PRODUCT AND PRICING UPDATE & PROPOSALS 

 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

The purpose of the report is to approve ticketing recommendations relating to 
specific scheme arrangements, product and price changes for all Merseytravel multi 
operator and multi modal pre-paid tickets for 2021.   
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It is requested that the Transport Committee:- 
 

(a) Approve the annual price recommendations for the Merseytravel Multi-
Operator Ticketing Scheme products, to be fully implemented in the first 
quarter of 2021 (or August 2021 for School Term products) for Trio, Railpass 
and Saveaway tickets as outlined in Appendix 1 of this report. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Merseytravel Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme is a ticketing scheme owned by 

the Combined Authority and administered by Merseytravel as the executive body 
responsible for delivering public transport services on the Combined Authority’s 
behalf.  It is structured as a voluntary partnership under powers granted by the 
Transport Act 2000.  Commercial transport operators are invited to participate in the 
scheme which provides affordable multi-operator or multi-modal transport tickets to 
people wishing to use more than one operator or transport mode on the public 
transport network in Merseyside.   
 

3.2 The Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme encourages sustainable patronage to 
promote real passenger growth.  The scheme ensures that there is a legal local 
ticketing offer that can be used on more than one operator (multi operator) and 
more than one mode (multi modal) in the interest of providing customers with 
affordable transport tickets.  As a result, price increases no greater than the 
average RPI annual percent change (based on July 2020), are generally applied 
each year to the Merseytravel Ticketing Scheme suite of multi-operator tickets.   

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



3.3 In late 2019/ early 2020, as part of the wider ticketing programme, a scheme 
governance review was undertaken and the agreement updated to reflect current 
practices as the smart ticketing agenda evolves. This agreement is still awaiting 
final sign off. This governance review included the price setting process – with the 
recommendations for approval by Merseytravel and the Combined Authority coming 
directly from the Ticketing Operators Steering Group. Whilst the default position is 
to increase by RPI, there are other social and economic factors taken into account 
by the group in making their recommendations annually.  

 
3.4 The outbreak of Covid-19 has significantly impacted the transport network and in 

turn this will impact the multi operator ticketing price setting process. Within the Rail 
Industry, the national rail operators are receiving national funding support and it is 
expected that a price rise within the industry is expected in the first quarter of 2021 
– the date yet to be determined. Merseyrail Electrics are also expecting to increase 
prices locally in line with any national arrangement. 

 
3.5 However, the bus industry is slightly different in that bus operators are currently in 

receipt of a Covid-19 Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG), the terms of which 
mean bus fares cannot be changed, upwards or downwards, until one month after 
the grant has come to an end. At this point, the CBSSG does not have an end date 
so it is not expected a price increase will be applied to bus related tickets until 
CBSSG comes to an end. 

 
3.6 Therefore, for 2021 Multi Operator and Multi Modal tickets price setting, the 

following arrangements are expected to apply: - 
 

o Bus only products – Solo and My Ticket – Any price review will take place 
once CBSSG funding comes to an end. In the meantime, no price changes 
are proposed in this report. 

o Rail only products – RailPass – It is proposed our rail only products are 
raised in line with RPI in July 2020, 1.6%. The actual date of implementation 
will be on a date agreed nationally, likely to be in the first quarter of 2021. 
This report is aimed at ensuring appropriate approval is in place ahead of 
that increase with a date to be agreed by officers. 

o Multi Modal products – Trio and Saveaway - It is not clear whether or not 
multi modal tickets are restricted by the CBSSG terms and clarification is 
currently being sought. This report assumes prices will increase in line with 
the rail industry, and appropriate approval is required. However, subject to 
further guidance we may find these tickets are not increased in line with 
RailPass and reviewed with Solo and My Ticket when the CBSSG 
agreement come to an end. 

 
3.7 Based on the above, Appendix 1 outlines the full product and pricing proposals for 

2021 (and the variances from existing prices) which relate to the current Multi-
Operator Ticketing Scheme. In summary, the proposed increases for RailPass, are 
on average within the RPI increase (July 2020) of 1.6%, subject to rounding rules. 
The document shows no increase for Trio, Saveaway, Solo or My Ticket products. 

 
3.8 The revised pricing arrangements also include an adjustment made to the Solo 

Term Time products, introduced in September 2020. These products were reviewed 
and enhanced to now cover the half term period, promoting bus travel during the 
half term holidays for school children. The price of the product was adjusted 

Page 34



proportionately and the enhanced product is now available on our Metro Smart 
Card and online.  

 
3.9 Officers continues to work with participating scheme members to identify 

opportunities to simplify the fare structures, where possible and to provide more 
convenient and relevant ticket option information for customers to promote 
passenger growth.   

 
3.10 In making this change, Officers have undertaken significant consultation with 

operators to seek agreement on the proposed fare changes.  In most cases the 
proposals meet with participating operator expectations.  By keeping the proposed 
increase no greater than RPI guidelines (July 2020) for existing Multi-Operator 
Scheme tickets, an impact on patronage from these price changes is not 
anticipated.   

 
 
4.   RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 

(a) In making this change, Officers are of the opinion that commercial bus and 
rail operators will not be disadvantaged by reductions in passenger revenue 
or demand post Covid-19 as a result of this decision.  Officers are also of the 
view that the price change remains affordable and will not discourage travel 
on the local transport network.   

 
(b) Merseytravel has budgeted to absorb the usual administrative costs 

associated with fare change for the existing Multi-Operator Ticket Scheme.  
Therefore, there are no additional financial risks associated with making the 
price changes. 

 
(b) Any costs associated with updating Merseytravel ticket prices will be funded 

by the participating bus operators for their own services.  Managed Services 
contracts are absorbing costs associated with applying electronic annual 
price increases. 

 
4.2  Human Resources 
 
 There are no HR implications associated with this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
 There are no Asset related implications associated with this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 

Prices will need to be updated by participating bus operators on their electronic 
ticket machines (ETMs) for all services across the Liverpool City Region, as well as 
on the PayPoint EPOS terminals.  If approval is given, rail operators will have time 
to update the prices on their retail systems in readiness for the price change date at 
their own cost.   

 

Page 35



 
 
5.   RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
5.1 There is a risk that operators will withdraw from the pre-paid scheme.  However, 

detailed consultation has taken place as part of the ticketing governance review and 
arrangements to mitigate this risk. 

 
5.2 There is a risk that the fares will not be updated in the fares systems in time for the 

change.  This has been mitigated by sharing details of the fare amendments ahead 
of the proposed change date, to allow all participating suppliers/operators time to 
make the alterations in their respective systems. 

 
 
6.   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed with these recommendations. 
Whilst any price increase will create negative financial impacts across all groups, 
the fact that the increase is within the designated RPI levels restricts this impact 
and ensures the Merseytravel pre-paid tickets are an affordable means of ticket for 
multi- operator and multi- modal travel. Applying the RPI levels across all ticket 
types ensures none of the protected characteristics are disadvantaged 
disproportionately in this case. 

 
 

7.   PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 There are no privacy implications associated with this report. 

 

8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 

 
8.1 A coordinated engagement, communications and marketing programme is planned 

to support the fare changes.  This will include participating operators publishing 
price changes and communicating directly with customers, where appropriate. 

 
8.2 Full consultation has taken place with bus and rail operators regarding these 

proposed changes. 
 

8.3 Officers will continue to work with operators on how we communicate the ticketing 
offer to customers. 

 
  

Page 36



 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 This report looks to bring together the usual annual multi operator and multi modal 
 ticket setting process and manage such in line with the exceptional Covid-19 
 related issues the transport network faces during 2020 and into 2021. 
 

 

GARY EVANS 
Assistant Director for Customer Delivery 

 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Gary Evans, Assistant Director for Customer Delivery, Merseytravel, 0151 330 4502 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, Merseytravel, 0151 330 1129 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Product and Fare 2021 Proposal 
 
Background Documents:  

 
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Fare Proposals:
Term-Time & School Year tickets prices to increase from August 2021.  All other remaining ticket duration types to increase in the first quarter of 2021.

TRIO 1 Zone 2021 2 Zones/1 Area 2021

3 Zones/ 1 Area 

and 1 Zone 2021 All Zones 2021

Weekly 19.70£                      20.00£                      24.60£                    25.00£                    31.60£               32.10£               41.10£                  41.70£                  

Monthly 69.90£                      71.00£                      87.70£                    89.10£                    109.10£            110.80£            142.20£               144.50£               

Term Time 142.90£                    145.10£                    180.90£                 183.80£                 225.90£            229.50£            295.00£               299.70£               

Annual Peak 700.00£                    711.20£                    876.90£                 890.90£                 1,091.70£         1,109.10£         1,421.70£            1,444.50£            

School Year (LEA) 430.70£                    437.60£                    544.80£                 553.50£                 671.20£            681.90£            876.80£               890.80£               

Weekly 9.85£                         10.00£                      12.30£                    12.50£                    15.80£               16.00£               20.55£                  20.90£                  

Term Time 93.50£                      95.00£                      117.90£                 119.80£                 146.90£            149.20£            191.60£               194.60£               

School Year (LEA) 279.60£                    284.00£                    354.40£                 360.00£                 436.50£            443.50£            570.20£               579.30£               

RAILPASS 1 Zone 2021 2 Zones/1 Area 2021

3 Zones/ 1 Area 

and 1 Zone 2021 All Zones 2021

Weekly 17.10£                      17.40£                      21.20£                    21.50£                    26.90£               27.30£               34.40£                  35.00£                  

Monthly 59.40£                      60.30£                      74.30£                    75.50£                    92.70£               94.20£               120.10£               122.00£               

Term Time 121.90£                    123.85£                    154.80£                 157.25£                 190.90£            193.95£            250.30£               254.30£               

Annual Peak 594.10£                    603.60£                    743.20£                 755.00£                 927.20£            942.00£            1,201.70£            1,220.90£            

Weekly 8.55£                         8.70£                         10.60£                    10.75£                    13.45£               13.65£               17.20£                  17.50£                  

Monthly 29.70£                      30.15£                      37.15£                    37.75£                    46.35£               47.00£               60.05£                  61.00£                  

Term Time 79.20£                      80.40£                      100.60£                 102.20£                 124.00£            126.00£            162.70£               165.30£               

SOLO All Areas 2021

Adult

Weekly 19.70£                      19.70£                      

Monthly (B2B tickets Only) 68.80£                      68.80£                      

4 Weekly 66.50£                      66.50£                      

Term Time 142.00£                    142.00£                    

Annual Peak 686.70£                    686.70£                    

Adult

Young Person

Multi - Operator Ticket Prices

2020

Adult

Young Person

2020

P
age 39



Young Person

Weekly 9.85£                         9.85£                         

4-Weekly (New) 33.25£                      33.25£                      

Term TIme 93.00£                      94.50£                      

School Year (LEA) 265.20£                    265.20£                    

SAVEAWAY 1 Area 2021 All Areas 2021

Adult 4.20£                         4.30£                         5.55£                      5.60£                      

Young Person 2.40£                         2.40£                         2.85£                      2.90£                      

SOLO DAY All Areas 2021

Adult 1-day 4.90£                         4.90£                         

Adult 3-day bundle 13.80£                      13.80£                      

Adult 5-day bundle 21.50£                      21.50£                      

MY TICKET LCRCA Area 2021

Day 2.20£                         2.20£                         

RPI Applied July 2020 - 1.6%

P
age 40



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 

REPORT OF MERSEYTRAVEL 
 

MERSEYTRAVEL QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report provides the Members of the Transport Committee with details of the 

organisation’s financial performance for the period through to 30 September 2020.  
The report also details the proposed revisions to the 2020/21 budget which are 
aimed at ensuring that the organisation can continue to operate a balanced budget. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Transport Committee: 
 

(a) Note the contents of this report; and 
(b) Note that to the extent that the organisation is successful in securing 

reimbursement for forgone income from the government’s sales fees and 
charges scheme, the actual additional application of reserves required to 
balance the budget will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 A budget of £123.376m was approved by Merseytravel on 29 January 2020 with a 

grant provided from the Combined Authority of £94.114m for the operation of 
Transport services and a grant of £23.883m to cover the operational costs 
associated with the Mersey Tunnels. In addition, a grant of £4.545m was provided 
from CA Rail specific reserves to support the Rolling Stock project team costs. To 
balance the overall revenue budget, a contribution of £0.834m was made from 
reserves. 

 
3.2 The operational and financial performance of Merseytravel during the current 

financial year has been significantly impacted by the ongoing Covid 19 pandemic. 
Whilst the organisation has sought to maintain operational services as far as 
practical throughout, lockdown and the subsequent application of Tier 3 restrictions 
on the City Region have served to suppress key income sources whilst 
simultaneously seeing costs associated with supporting services increase. The 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



areas of pressure were identified in the Quarter One report to the board on 30 
September 2020. 

 
3.3 In his capacity of Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Resources is required to 

ensure that the organisation maintains a balanced budget position. To ensure that 
this requirement could be met, an exercise to review the budget was undertaken 
with Heads of Service and revised budgets forecast.  The proposed revised budget 
is shown in the table below. 

 
Table 1 Proposed Revised Revenue Budget 2020/21 

 

 
  

Approved 

Budget

Proposed 

Budget Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000

Bus Services 19,113 18,798 316

Rail Services 4,831 4,694 137

Rolling Stock 4,545 1,831 2,714

Concessionary Travel 51,964 49,985 1,979

Corporate Management 703 735 -32

Customer Delivery 5,144 4,306 838

Policy & LTP Development 355 313 42

Mersey Ferries 251 2,971 -2,720

The Beatles Story -997 0 -997

People Development 1,477 1,217 260

Mersey Tunnels (Direct costs) 17,655 15,414 2,241

Asset Management 10,806 10,856 -50

IT 3,781 4,267 -486

Finance 992 1,052 -60

Audit 486 438 48

Legal, Procurement & Democratic Services 1,026 1,139 -113

Programme Management Office 462 434 28

Corporate Costs 783 783 0

Total 123,376 119,233 4,144

Funded by:

Merseytravel Operating Grant -92,514 -92,514 0

Assumed increase in levy passported to MT -1,600 -1,600 0

Mersey Tunnels Operating Grant -23,883 -21,080 -2,803

CA Contribution for Rolling Stock -4,545 -1,831 -2,714

Use of Reserves - Merseytravel -834 -2,208 1,374

Reimbursement via SFC 0 0

Total -123,376 -119,233 -4,143

Page 42



 
 
3.4 To minimise the overall impact on the revenue budget, in areas where savings 

could be made, the budgets have been reset to accord with proposed outturn spend 
to release funding to support those service areas where financial pressures are the 
greatest. In balancing the budget, it has been assumed that additional reserves will 
be applied in the first instance. Through the Combined Authority, an application has 
been made to the government’s Sales, Fees and Charges reimbursement scheme 
to recover forgone in income in respect of eligible spend. Whilst the scheme only  

 reimburses organisations up to 72% of budgeted income, to the extent that this 
application is successful, Merseytravel’s assumed application of reserves will be 
reduced accordingly. 

 
3.5 With regards to the position for the Beatles Story, it is currently assumed that no 

reimbursement will be provided for lost income under SFC due to the classification 
of this as commercial income. Notwithstanding this position, for the purposes of 
budgeting it is assumed that any net losses will in the first instance be met through 
the organisation’s own P&L reserve. 

 
3.6 It is proposed that an additional £1.37m is applied from Merseytravel general 

reserves to balance the budget, however as noted above, to the extent that the 
organisation is reimbursed for forgone income through the government this will 
reduce the actual application of reserves. 

 
 

Revenue Expenditure 
 
3.7 The table overleaf details revenue expenditure for Merseytravel to 30 September 

2020. Performance is shown against the revised revenue budget as detailed at 3.3 
above. 

 
 Table 2 Revenue Expenditure to 30 September against Phased Budget 

Page 43



 

 
 
3.8 The key variances are detailed below: 
 

 Bus Services – underspends due to staffing vacancies and reduced advertising 
spend; 

 Customer Delivery – underspends due to staff vacancies and lower repairs and 
maintenance spend during the first half of the year; 

 Mersey Ferries – underspends on staffing due to staff vacancies and ferries 
maintenance deferred until the second half of the year; 

 The Beatles Story – income levels have been significantly impacted by the Covid 19 
pandemic and national lockdown. Whilst management have proactively sought to 
reduce cost, residual costs are being incurred that will need to be absorbed in the 
first instance through the company’s profit and loss reserve; 

Revised Budget Budget to Date Spend to Date

Favourable/ 

(Unfavourable) 

Variance

£'000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bus Services 18,798 8,080 7,875 205

Rail Services 4,694 2,099 2,139 (40)

Rolling Stock 1,831 916 837 79

Customer Delivery 4,306 1,892 1,665 227

Concessionary Travel 49,985 26,189 26,282 (93)

Corporate Management 735 368 342 26

Policy & LTP 313 157 150 7

People & Customer 

Development
1,217 494 365 129

Mersey Ferries 2,971 2,230 1,775 455

The Beatles Story 0 0 822 (822)

Corporate Costs 783 392 357 35

IT 4,267 2,720 2,689 31

Resources 2,629 1,315 1,117 198

Programme Management 

Office
434 217 187 30

Asset Management 10,856 5,257 4,945 312

Mersey Tunnels (Direct 

Costs)
15,413 7,035 6,082 953

Total Expenditure incl. 

Tunnels
119,232 59,357 57,629 1,728

Funded by:

Merseytravel Grant from the 

CA
(94,114) (47,057) (47,057) 0

Mersey Tunnels Grant (21,080) (9,622) (9,622) 0

CA Contribution to Rolling 

Stock
(1,831) (916) (916) 0

Application of Reserves (2,207) (1,740) (1,740)

Total Income (119,232) (59,334) (57,594) (1,740)

Net Budget 0 23 35 (12)

Page 44



 Resources – underspend due to delays in recruiting to positions. Recruitment has 
been impacted by Covid 19 however it is anticipated that the underspend will 
reduce as posts are filled in the second half of the year. 

 Asset Management – underspends arising primarily from staff vacancies however it 
is forecast that the overall quantum of underspend will reduce in the second part of 
the year as recruitment progresses; and 

 Mersey Tunnels – underspends arising from staffing vacancies and lower than 
forecast spend on maintenance and capital programme. It is forecast that levels of 
spend will pick up in the second half of the year. 

 
Capital Expenditure 

 
3.9 The table below details the capital programme and expenditure against budget to 

30 September 2020. 
 
 Table 3 Capital Expenditure to 30 September against Phased Budget 
 

 Approved 
Budget 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
£’000 

Spend to 
Date 
£’000 

Variance 
 

£’000 

Bus Services 1,718 2,226 640 1,586 

Rail Services 16,512 16,834 5,507 11,327 

Smart Ticketing 1,140 599 56 543 

Ferries 8,500 8,586 639 7,947 

IT 1,220 835 60 775 

Hubs 0 200 0 200 

Corporate Strategy 200 3,552 794 2,758 

Support Services 70 50 0 50 

Tunnels 7,965 6,205 1,501 4,704 

Rolling Stock 124,434 108,279 28,946 79,333 

Total Expenditure 161,759 147,366 38,143 109,223 

 
3.10 Expenditure to the end of September 2020 represents 26% of the revised budgeted 

spend for the year. Activity levels have been impacted by Covid 19 and the national 
lockdown which meant work planned in the first quarter was largely deferred.  
Whilst activity has picked up towards the end of the second quarter, delays in 
contracting will push work towards the second part of the year.  

 
3.11 Rolling Stock spend has been affected by a Force Majeure event at one of Stadler’s 

factories and Covid 19 has led to delays in the production, transporting and testing 
of units which has consequently pushed out the acceptance and associated 
milestone payments. Spend on Ferries capital is forecast to increase also in the 
second half of the year with the letting of a major contract to complete the pontoons 
refurbishment and bridges renewals. 

 
 

Financial Risks and Reserves Position  
 
3.12 Taking account of the revised proposals in respect of the revenue and capital 

projections for the current financial year, the projected reserves position as at 31 
March 2021 is detailed below. 

 

Page 45



 Table 4 Application of Reserves 
 

 Balance as at 
1 April 2020 

£’000 

Utilisation in 
Year 
£’000 

Balance at 
31 March 2021 

£’000 

Capital Reserves 
Earmarked Reserves 
Revenue/ Working Balances 

0 
48,881 

2,562 

0 
(3,780) 

0 

5,746 
45,101 

2,562 

Total 57,189 (3,780) 53,409 

 
3.12 As noted at 3.4, actual utilisation of reserves may be lower to the extent that the 

organisation can successfully reclaim lost income from the government’s sales fees 
and charges scheme, however there are a number of significant financial risks 
faced by the organisation which may impact upon financial performance over the 
second half of the year which could impact upon utilisation of reserves: 

 

 The Beatles Story – to the extent that losses in the year cannot be contained within 
the company’s own reserves, Merseytravel would be required to financially support 
the business. 

 Bus services – in accordance with the Cabinet Office PPN, Merseytravel has been 
required to make payments to bus operators at a level commensurate with pre 
Covid levels. In addition, there has been a need to make additional provision on the 
network to allow for social distancing and the return of schools. Whilst additional 
resources have been made available to Merseytravel to support this additionality 
there is a risk that the funding provided is insufficient or indeed clawed back by 
government which would necessitate additional resources be provided by 
Merseytravel to maintain current policy offer. 

 Rail services – due to the way in which the concession has been set up, there are 
significant financial risks to Merseytravel from the current situation. There are 
several permutations here, each with differing financial risks. Merseyrail’s 
profitability and liquidity has been negatively impacted by the pandemic and the 
imposition of Tier 3 restrictions are likely to have a further deleterious impact. It is 
highly probable that there will be no Benefit Share allocation for the current year 
and therefore those costs previously funded through this mechanism will need to be 
met by Merseytravel from its own resources. 

 
3.13 Whilst the points above are referenced specifically in relation to the current financial 

year, it is highly probable that these will continue to be sources of financial pressure 
for the organisation for the foreseeable future and will impact significantly on the 
budget setting process for 2021/22. Given the financial pressures that are currently 
being faced by the respective Members of the Combined Authority, it is highly 
unlikely that the quantum of funding available to Merseytravel to support its 
operational activities for 2021/22 will increase, meaning that any financial pressures 
will need to be contained by Merseytravel. 

 
  

Page 46



 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1. Financial 
 

Financial implications as detailed in section three of the report. 
 
4.2. Human Resources 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

 
4.3. Physical Assets 

 
None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 

 
4.4. Information Technology 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.5     Programme Management Office (PMO) 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
5. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 

7. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 

None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
  

Page 47



 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1. Financial performance to the end of quarter two has been impacted by the Covid 19 

pandemic. To address structural budgetary issues stemming directly from the 
impact of Covid 19, a revised revenue budget has been constructed which seeks to 
better align budgets with resource requirements for the year. Spend against the 
revised budget is £57.7m, which represents an underspend against the revised 
budget of £1.7m. 

 
 
 

SARAH JOHNSTON 
Assistant Director of Finance 

 
 
 
Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance, 0151 330 1015 
Joanna Sawyer, Corporate Communications Manager, 0151 330 1129 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Detailed Revenue Spend to 30 September 2020 
Appendix Two – Detailed Capital Spend to 30 September 2020 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None  

Page 48



Appendix One

Original Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Bus Services
Total Employees 2,345,819 2,192,819 1,096,409 1,065,808 0 1,065,808 30,601

Total Premises 129,000 136,000 58,480 32,996 0 32,996 25,484

Total Transport 80,348 80,348 34,550 23,618 145 23,763 10,787

Total Supplies & Services 4,156,614 3,978,694 1,557,341 1,163,257 175,039 1,338,296 219,045

Total Third Party Payments 22,283,642 20,355,278 8,752,770 9,272,236 853,435 10,125,670 (1,372,900)

Total Other Costs 120,000 120,000 51,600 71,923 0 71,923 (20,323)

Total Income (10,002,423) (8,065,139) (3,471,010) (4,783,136) 0 (4,783,136) 1,312,126

Total Bus Services 19,113,000 18,798,000 8,080,140 6,846,701 1,028,619 7,875,320 204,820

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Rail Services
Total Employees 1,006,267 931,267 416,276 362,284 0 362,284 53,992

Total Premises 351,316 351,316 157,038 129,146 3,943 133,090 23,949

Total Transport 8,200 8,200 3,665 192 0 192 3,473

Total Supplies & Services 750,450 472,863 211,370 48,023 52,806 100,829 110,541

Total Third Party Payments 99,512,549 99,728,549 44,579,661 48,634,790 0 48,634,790 (4,055,129)

Total Income (96,797,782) (96,797,782) (43,268,609) (47,092,033) 0 (47,092,033) 3,823,424

Total Rail Services 4,831,000 4,694,413 2,099,402 2,082,403 56,749 2,139,152 (39,750)

Original Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Rolling Stock
Total Employees 575,542 584,567 292,284 286,163 286,163 6,121

Total Transport 17,906 11,300 5,650 1,257 1,257 4,393

Total Supplies & Services 903,021 1,187,807 593,904 214,559 214,559 379,345

Total Third Party Payments 6,341,917 2,817,825 1,408,913 1,370,809 1,370,809 38,104

Total Income (3,293,386) (2,770,147) (1,385,074) (1,035,067) (1,035,067) (350,007)

Total Rolling Stock 4,545,000 1,831,352 915,676 837,721 0 837,721 77,955

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Concessionary Travel
Total Third Party Payments 71,867,000 69,888,000 36,140,500 28,628,375 0 28,628,375 7,512,125

Total Income (19,903,000) (19,903,000) (9,951,500) (2,346,775) 0 (2,346,775) (7,604,725)

Total Concessionary Travel 51,964,000 49,985,000 26,189,000 26,281,600 0 26,281,600 (92,600)

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Corporate Management
Total Employees 558,350 558,350 278,125 268,690 268,690 9,435

Total Transport 11,650 2,000 5,825 642 642 5,183

Total Supplies & Services 260,200 301,850 147,600 135,856 135,856 11,744

Total LCRCA Recharge 82,500 82,500 41,250 41,250 41,250 0

Total LCRCA Recharge Income (209,700) (209,700) (104,850) (104,850) (104,850) 0

Total Corporate Management 703,000 735,000 367,950 341,588 0 341,588 26,362

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

MERSEYTRAVEL MONTHLY REVENUE FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT - TO SEPTEMBER 2020

Description

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 49



Original Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Customer Delivery
Total Employees 4,230,000 4,070,000 2,089,104 1,950,621 5,147 1,955,768 133,336

Total Premises 2,044,876 1,977,000 1,203,785 1,043,779 91,076 1,134,855 68,930

Total Transport 10,000 10,000 4,500 2,261 1,600 3,861 639

Total Supplies & Services 725,124 650,000 330,124 184,600 39,096 223,696 106,429

Total Income (1,866,000) (2,401,000) (1,735,322) (1,653,561) 0 (1,653,561) (81,761)

Total Customer Delivery 5,144,000 4,306,000 1,892,190 1,527,700 136,919 1,664,618 227,572

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Policy and LTP Development
Total Employees 487,729 445,729 222,865 198,714 0 198,714 43,268

Total Transport 1,804 1,804 902 41 0 41 (41)

Total Supplies & Services 6,164 6,164 3,082 (56) 0 (56) 56

Total Third Party Payments 0 0 0 480 0 480 (480)

Total Income (140,697) (140,697) (70,349) (48,830) 0 (48,830) 48,830

Total Policy and LTP Development 355,000 313,000 156,500 150,349 0 150,349 6,151

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Mersey Ferries Group
Total Employees 2,186,636 2,198,211 1,435,000 1,250,224 0 1,250,224 184,776

Total Premises 1,025,454 713,356 535,017 303,701 109,179 412,879 122,138

Total Transport 132,122 127,479 95,609 49,242 4,800 54,042 41,567

Total Vessels 898,197 655,373 491,530 181,472 28,212 209,684 281,846

Total Supplies & Services 247,013 142,300 106,725 73,650 5,106 78,756 27,969

Total Income (4,238,422) (866,108) (433,000) (230,074) 0 (230,074) (202,926)

Total Mersey Ferries Group 251,000 2,970,611 2,230,881 1,628,214 147,296 1,775,510 455,371

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - People Development
Total Employees 1,518,914 1,484,442 602,683 599,503 22,998 622,501 (19,818)

Total Transport 4,103 1,575 639 609 0 609 30

Total Supplies & Services 341,983 118,983 48,307 10,959 0 10,959 37,348
0

Total Third Party Payments 0 0 0 0 0 0
0

Total Income (388,000) (388,000) (157,528) (268,653) 0 (268,653) 111,125

Total People Development 1,477,000 1,217,000 494,101 342,418 22,998 365,417 128,684

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Mersey Tunnels
Total Employees 5,647,550 5,331,000 2,830,936 2,812,436 0 2,812,436 18,500

Total Premises 2,607,308 2,382,000 1,238,192 1,121,243 115,585 1,236,828 1,364

Total Transport 162,000 175,000 86,800 39,061 200 39,261 47,539

Total Supplies & Services 1,273,142 1,320,000 719,920 702,269 16,650 718,919 1,001

Total Third Party Payments 7,965,000 6,205,000 2,159,480 1,274,558 0 1,274,558 884,922
 

Total Mersey Tunnels 17,655,000 15,413,000 7,035,328 5,949,567 132,435 6,082,003 953,325

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

Page 50



Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Asset Management
Total Employees 7,186,320 6,754,000 3,288,920 3,191,163 1,425 3,192,588 96,332

Total Premises 5,074,400 5,104,000 2,449,920 2,394,004 55,837 2,449,842 78

Total Transport 273,750 197,000 94,560 79,498 44 79,542 15,018

Total Supplies & Services 308,030 224,000 182,520 132,588 16,097 148,685 33,835

Total Income (2,036,500) (1,423,000) (758,040) (925,937) 0 (925,937) 167,897

Total Asset Management 10,806,000 10,856,000 5,257,880 4,871,316 73,404 4,944,720 313,160

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - IT
Total Employees 2,081,869 2,233,396 1,407,039 1,022,131 0 1,022,131 384,908

Total Premises 150 0 0 1,184 0 1,184 (1,184)

Total Transport 9,826 5,812 3,662 2,398 0 2,398 1,264

Total Supplies & Services 2,289,569 2,565,378 1,648,188 1,436,095 586,180 2,022,275 (374,087)

Total Income (600,414) (537,300) (338,499) (358,634) 0 (358,634) 20,135

Total IT 3,781,000 4,267,286 2,720,390 2,103,175 586,180 2,689,354 31,036

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Finance
Total Employees 1,339,000 1,313,310 656,655 568,291 0 568,291 88,364

Total Transport 1,000 250 125 125 0 125 (0)

Total Supplies & Services 28,000 126,581 63,291 60,484 9,646 70,130 (6,839)

Total Income (376,000) (387,945) (193,973) (262,546) 0 (262,546) 68,573

Total Finance 992,000 1,052,196 526,098 366,354 9,646 376,000 150,098

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Internal Audit
Total Employees 553,760 509,857 290,398 293,086 0 293,086 (2,688)

Total Transport 8,287 11,925 11,963 11,649 0 11,649 314

Total Supplies & Services 89,953 91,429 67,715 66,504 150 66,654 1,061

Total Income (166,000) (175,383) (123,161) (123,161) 0 (123,161) (0)

Total Internal Audit 486,000 437,828 246,915 248,079 150 248,229 (1,314)

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Legal & Procurement
Total Employees 1,301,000 1,330,300 665,150 575,899 0 575,899 63,601

Total Transport 3,000 1,000 500 395 0 395 (395)

Total Supplies & Services 88,000 146,000 73,000 64,399 1,173 87,165 (87,165)

Total Income (366,000) (338,000) (169,000) (149,096) 0 (149,096) 149,096

Total Legal & Procurement 1,026,000 1,139,300 569,650 491,598 1,173 492,771 76,879

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

Description

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 51



Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Programme Management Office
Total Employees 627,950 570,849 285,425 256,836 0 256,836 28,589

Total Transport 2,400 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Supplies & Services 6,303 12,942 6,471 1,389 0 1,389 5,082

Total Income (174,653) (149,482) (74,741) (71,579) 0 (71,579) (3,162)

Total Programme Management Office 462,000 434,309 217,155 186,647 0 186,647 30,508

Annual Budget Revised Budget Budget to date Actual Committed Total Spend
 Variance 

Fav/(Unfav)

Sub-Service  - Corporate Costs
Total Employees 870,000 870,000 435,000 247,575 222,500 470,075 (35,075)

Total Supplies & Services 232,000 232,000 116,500 25,042 0 25,042 91,458

Total Other Income (319,000) (319,000) (159,500) (138,318) 0 (138,318) (21,182)

Total Corporate Costs 783,000 783,000 392,000 134,299 222,500 356,799 35,201

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Description

YEAR TO DATE £

Page 52



Account Project
Total Approved 
Budget 20/21

Total Revised 
Budget 20/21

Total Expenditure 
September 2020

WB103 Bus Stop Upgrades 154 192 121
WB104 General Bus Stops 80 40 4
WB106 Bus Priorities 150 100 6
WB131 Spellow Lane/County Road 0 31 26
WB132 Rice Lane/Orrell Lane 0 15 6
WB133 Black Bull 0 682 37
WB139 Duke Street 0 10 0
WB143 Bus Stop Accessibility Improvements 300 206 96
WB145 & WB151 RTPI @ Bus Stations 200 200 54
WB149 Bus Contract Management System 0 120 41
WB150 Bus/Rail Interchange 139 145 115
WB152 ITS Route A57 0 30 30
WB153 Green Bus Routes 85 85 94
WB155 RTI Back Office Systems 150 0 4
WB156 Bus Scheduling Software 150 150 0
WB157 RTI Management Performance Analytics 150 60 0
WB158 Infrastructure For Electric Vehicles 60 60 0
WB159 Old Roan Interchange 100 100 6

Total Bus Capital 1,718 2,226 640

WC105 ETM Procurement - Smart Technology 42 42 42
WC106 ISAM Set Up - Smart Technology 0 0 0
WC110 Smart Technology HCE Pilot 0 0 -8
WC111 Smart Ticketing Phase 2 1,098 557 22

Total SMART Capital 1,140 599 56

WF103 Pontoons & Bridges remedial works 120 120 8
WF106 Naval Architect 100 35 0
WF115 Seacombe Landing Stage Dry Dock 7,000 7,000 298
WF116 Vessels Pipework, Steering Compartments and Tanks 0 5 4
WF119 Marine Architect 20 20 8
WF120 Mersey Ferries website 0 4 4
WF121 Smart Transport Ticketing 0 297 99
WF122 Woodside Accessibility Lift 0 15 0
WF123 Specialist Marine Engineer 200 200 44
WF124 Terminals Interface Works 750 250 0
WF125 Vessels Capital Costs 150 150 109
WF126 Eureka Supporting Works 160 225 65
NEW Woodside Landing Stage Options Report 0 15 0
NEW Seacombe Terminal Building Remedial Works 0 250 0

Total Ferries Capital 8,500 8,586 639

WI106 Queens Square Travel Centre 0 200 0
Total Hubs Capital 0 200 0

WI103 ITB Transport Development 0 231 0
WI104 ITB Major Scheme Management 0 50 15
WI105 ITB Congestion 0 450 11
WI105 Strategic Priorities 0 228 433
WT110 Cycle Design 0 92 0
WI111 UTC Traffic Signals 150 130 42
WI112 LCR Cycle Network Phase 2 50 291 169
WI113 Emergency ActiveTravel Fund 0 2,075 124
WS100 STEP LCR workplace charging posts 0 5 0

Total Corporate Strategy 200 3,552 794

MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PERIOD QUARTER 2 2020/21
APPENDIX TWO

Page 53



MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PERIOD QUARTER 2 2020/21
APPENDIX TWO

Account Account(T)
Total Approved 
Budget 20/21

Total Revised 
Budget 20/21

Total Expenditure 
September 2020

WN103 Laptop Replacement 80 60 21
WN113 Data Network Refresh 300 150 39
WN120 Data Storage Refresh 400 400 0
WN121 Remote Access Appliances 20 75 0
WN122 Cisco UCS M3/M4 Blade Refresh 150 0 0
WN123 Scada Firewall Refresh 40 0 0
WN124 SQL Licencing 140 150 0
WN125 Rail Reimbursement System 90 0 0

Total ICT Capital 1,220 835 60

WP002 Mersey Tram Compensation 20 0 0
WN105 Agresso 30 30 0
WP001 Mann Island 20 20 0

Total Support Services 70 50 0

WR105 LSP Renewals 150 150 0
WR110 LTRS Rail Studies 500 270 20
WR113 Liverpool Central Development 882 1,758 693
WR115 Station Validators 685 685 5
WR116 Spital Station P & R 25 10 1
WR117 Bromborough Station P & R 1,000 1,065 44
WR118 Park & Ride Schemes 0 1,350 145
WR119 Prescot Station 3,320 3,320 3,905
WR121 Headbolt Lane Gateway 3,250 3,401 256
WR125 St James Station Gateway 800 800 154
WR127 NPR / HS2 Station Commission 450 100 0
WR131 LSP Carpark Expansion 200 0 0
WR132 LSP Platform Extension 200 0 0
WR133 Sandhills Capacity Enhancement 500 220 7
WR134 Rail Devolution 400 200 0
WR135 Widnes P&R 750 335 89
WR136 Station Totems 250 20 7
WR137 Kirby Car Park & Ride 150 150 12
WR200 Broadgreen Access for All 250 250 87
WR201 Hunts Cross Access for All 700 700 22
WR202 St Michaels Access for All 700 700 22
WR203 Hillside Access for All 700 700 19
WR204 Birkenhead Park Access for All 650 650 19

Total Rail Capital 16,512 16,834 5,507

Page 54



MERSEYTRAVEL CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PERIOD QUARTER 2 2020/21
APPENDIX TWO

Account Account(T)
Total Approved 
Budget 20/21

Total Revised 
Budget 20/21

Total Expenditure 
September 2020

WT101 New Toll System Outline Design and Build 600 600 0
WT108 Various Tunnels inspections & assessments 100 50 9
WT109 Vehicle Replacement 75 200 103
WT110 Radio system upgrade 0 0 1
WT124 CCTV 200 5 12
WT125 Kingsway Replace Sump Pump Drainage Pipework System 2,715 2,000 385
WT126 Kingsway Renew Jet fans 450 0 0
WT127 Vent Station Interior Refurbishment Programme 100 100 5
WT128 Queensway Tunnel Rewire 87 87 49
WT139 Kingsway Transformers & HV Switch Renewals 315 315 226
WT143 Queensway Carriageway Soffit Works 900 1,200 651
WT145 Queensway Jet Fans 700 200 42
WT146 Prom Vent Transformers and HV Switch Renewals 485 0 0
WT147 Queensway Electrical Interventions 213 113 0
WT148 Kingsway Vauxhall Road Eldonian  Regeneration 100 35 0
WT149 PA System in Qway & Kway 400 300 0
WT150 Wallasey Elevated Control Building and Plaza 150 100 0
WT150 Plaza re-design Consultancy Commission 0 100 0
WT151 Kingsway refurb Tunnel Entrances 250 250 0
WT152 Queensway Cross Gulley Drainage 25 300 18
WT153 Kingsway Feasibilty Study 100 100 0
NEW Georges Dock Damproofing 0 150 0

Total Tunnels Capital 7,965 6,205 1,501

Total All Capital Before Rolling Stock 37,325 39,087 9,197

WV100 Rolling Stock MSA 75,059 55,448 5,720
WV101 Rolling Stock - Depot 532 1,768 0
WV102 Rolling Stock Power 11,140 31,078 16,661
WV103 Rolling Stock Infrastructure Platforms 0 841 678
WV104 Rolling Stock Infrastructure Train Length 30,000 8,811 1,670
WV105 Rolling Stock Infrastructure Signals 0 1,285 673
WV106 Rolling Stock Connectivity 7,703 7,255 3,544

Unit 53 Headbolt Lane 0 1,793
Total Rolling Stock 124,434 108,279                   28,946

Total Capital Expenditure 161,759 147,366                   38,143

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee 
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICY AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING AND 
INTERIM DIRECTOR OF INTEGRATED TRANSPORT  

 
RESPONDING TO THE DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT’S  

CONSULTATION ON PAVEMENT PARKING 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 This report sets out a draft response to the consultation launched on 31 August 

2020 by the Department for Transport on means to control the problems associated 
with inconsiderate pavement parking. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Transport Committee: 
 

(a) Notes the issues raised in this report in respect of the Government’s proposals 
to manage the problems of pavement parking in the context of its wider 
priorities to greatly increase levels of walking and cycling, and to create an 
accessible environment for all road users; 

 
(b) Agrees the direction of the consultation response as set out within the 

Appendix to this report; and 
 
(c) For the reasons set out in section 3.6 and 4.6, grants delegated authority to 

the Director of Policy & Strategic Commissioning, in conjunction with the 
Director of Integrated Transport and the Chair of the Transport Committee to 
finalise the response, ahead of its submission to the Department for Transport 
by the deadline of 22 November 2020. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 On 31 August 2020, the Department for Transport (DfT) launched a consultation on 

Pavement Parking, available at the link below:- 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/transport-secretary-announces-plans-to-
make-pavements-accessible-for-all  

Page 57

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/transport-secretary-announces-plans-to-make-pavements-accessible-for-all
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/transport-secretary-announces-plans-to-make-pavements-accessible-for-all


 
3.2 The consultation forms part of the suite of measures to support a green, post-

COVID recovery by encouraging more people to choose active travel.  Members will 
recall the new policy and funding frameworks that support a very significant shift to 
walking and cycling as set out in a report to the last meeting of the Transport 
Committee in September 20201.   
 

3.3 The consultation draws from a review whereby a third of people with visual 
impairments and almost half of wheelchair users were not as willing to go out 
because of antisocial pavement parking.  The intent is to make the nation’s 
pavements accessible for everyone.  
 

3.4 It is also recognised that inconsiderate pavement parking leads to dangers for all 
road users and also adversely affects the appearance, safety, and structural 
condition, of kerbs, grass verges and pavements. 
 

3.5 The consultation is looking at whether a change of existing pavement parking 
legislation should occur.  The Government is proposing 3 options:  
 
1) Improving the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) process, under which local 

authorities can already prohibit pavement parking.   
2) A legislative change to allow local authorities with civil parking enforcement 

powers to enforce against ‘unnecessary obstruction of the pavement’.  
3) A legislative change to introduce a London-style pavement parking prohibition 

throughout England. 
 
3.6 This consultation closes on 22 November 2020.   
 
 
4. RESPONDING TO THE CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Officers from each of the constituent local authorities have been engaged in the 

development of this response via the Key Route Network Group, chaired by the 
Authority’s Key Route Network Manager.   
 

4.2 Looking at the three options set out in the consultation, the preferred approach that 
is recommended is Option 2.  This would entail a legislative change to allow local 
authorities with civil parking enforcement powers to enforce against ‘unnecessary 
obstruction of the pavement’.  
 

4.3 This option would bring additional freedoms for local authorities with civil parking 
enforcement powers to enforce against unnecessary obstruction.  This may need to 
be implemented in partnership with the Police authorities as there will be some 
situations where the obstruction is a criminal matter.  Option 2 is considered wholly 
consistent with devolution principles, and providing enabling powers to local 
authorities, to tailor their approaches and solutions in response to local need and 
circumstances is welcomed.  It would allow local areas to determine when a 
contravention would occur in the event that a minimum width (e.g. 1.5 metres) for 
pedestrians to pass became impeded. 

                                            
1
 

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s49097/Update%20on%20Active%20Travel%20Activity%
20in%20the%20Liverpool%20City%20Region.pdf  

Page 58

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s49097/Update%20on%20Active%20Travel%20Activity%20in%20the%20Liverpool%20City%20Region.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s49097/Update%20on%20Active%20Travel%20Activity%20in%20the%20Liverpool%20City%20Region.pdf


 
4.4 Option 1 – improving the TRO process has merit, but progressing TROs is a time -

consuming process that carries very significant legal costs.  As a means of 
managing the problem of pavement parking, the option is not in itself considered 
sufficient and should be co-ordinated and implemented with Option 2. 
 

4.5 Option 3 – a London-style, blanket ban, is considered an unduly stringent and 
inflexible approach and liable to generate very significant revenue pressures for 
local authorities, greatly exceeding any likely levels of income fixed penalties.   
Notwithstanding the importance of tackling the problem of inconsiderate pavement 
parking, there is a risk that a blanket approach merely transfers the problem from 
pavement obstruction to carriageway obstruction.  The advantage of the option is 
that it provides certainty, but this is outweighed by its significant operational and 
practical shortcomings. 
 

4.6 In terms of the process for responding, and in view of the mismatch between the 
deadlines associated with reporting these issues to the Transport Committee and 
the actual consultation deadline, the draft set out in the Appendix is  still in the 
process of being refined.   
 

4.7 As such, members are requested to consider and endorse the  thrust of the 
response, but to grant delegated authority to the Director of Policy & Strategic 
Commissioning to complete and submit this by the deadline of 22 November 2020.  
This delegation will be exercised in conjunction with the Director of Integrated 
Transport and the Chair of the Transport Committee.   
 
 

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are potentially significant financial and staffing implications at stake for the 

constituent local authorities, in their capacity as local highway authorities, especially 
in the event that Government chooses to implement Option 3 – a London style, 
blanket ban on parking on the pavement.   

 
5.2 There are no direct financial, staffing or IT implications for the Combined Authority 

in its strategic transport planning capacity. 
 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1. There are no direct risks to the Combined Authority as a result of this consultation 

response, as it is not responsible for the management or decriminalised 
enforcement of parking on the public highway.   
 

6.2. However, issues of inconsiderate pavement parking risk harming the delivery of the 
Authority’s acknowledged policies and plans to deliver high quality walking and 
cycling infrastructure across the city region and to create streets that are safe and 
accessible for all. 
 

  

Page 59



 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 As noted, the consultation draws from a review whereby a third of people with visual 

impairments and almost half of wheelchair users were not as willing to go out 
because of antisocial pavement parking.  The intent is to make the nation’s 
pavements accessible for everyone.  The draft response appended to this report 
welcomes the principles behind this approach.  
 
 

8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1. The communication of any legislative changes arising from the consultation at a 

national and local level will be critically important, so that people fully understand 
the implications of the changes and adapt their behaviour accordingly.  The 
imposition of fines in response to unclear national policy or legislative provision will 
also lead to criticism.  

 
9.2 A blanket ban on pavement parking (Option 3) offers the advantage of being the 

clearest message in communication terms, but this is outweighed by the very 
significant resource implications associating with making such a regime workable in 
practice. 

 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The consultation document has been developed in recognition of the fact that 

inconsiderate pavement parking can lead to dangers for all road users and also 
adversely affect the appearance, safety, and structural condition, of kerbs, grass 
verges and pavements.  The intent is to make the nation’s pavements accessible for 
everyone.  It also provides a follow-on to the Government’s recent statements and 
policies setting out its clear ambitions for mainstreaming walking and cycling. 
 

10.2 Looking at the three options set out in the consultation, the approach that is 
recommended is Option 2.  This would entail a legislative change to allow local 
authorities with civil parking enforcement powers to enforce against ‘unnecessary 
obstruction of the pavement’.  This is considered the most practical solution.  It is 
also considered consistent with devolution principles, in allowing local authorities to 
tailor their solutions in response to local need and circumstances.  
 

  

Page 60



 
10.3 Members are requested to consider and endorse the principles and broad thrust of 

the response set out in the Appendix.  Delegated authority to the Director of Policy 
& Strategic Commissioning is sought, to allow the response to be refined ahead of 
its submission by the deadline of 22 November 2020.  This delegation will be 
exercised in conjunction with the Director of Integrated Transport and the Chair of 
the Transport Committee. 

 
 
 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning 

 
SHANE FITZPATRICK 

Interim Director of Integrated Transport 
 
 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Andrew Sawyer, Key Route Network Manager, LCRCA 
Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy, LCRCA 
 
Appendix: 
Draft response to consultation 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

Page 1 of 5 

PAVEMENT PARKING – DRAFT RESPONSE BY:  
THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY  
(Version: 26th October 2020) 
 

1. Context  
 

1.1 The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) welcomes this opportunity to 
respond to the Government‟s consultation on Pavement Parking.  This response 
incorporates the views of the six constituent local authorities of Halton, Knowsley, 
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton and Wirral councils. More detailed, technical comments 
will follow from the constituent local authorities, in support of this overarching 
response.  The draft response [is being considered] by the Combined Authority‟s 
Transport Committee on 5th November 2020. 
 

1.2 The Liverpool City Region Mayoral Combined Authority was established in May 
2017, following the election of Steve Rotheram as the LCR‟s first directly elected 
Metro Mayor. The Mayoral Combined Authority draws on new powers and funds 
made available through the 2015 Devolution Deal and follow-on deal in 2016.   

 
1.3 These powers and functions include:-  
 

a) strategic transport planning, including devolved powers over local bus and rail 
networks and strategically important local roads; 

b) economic development and regeneration, including the development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS) and a Strategic Investment Fund (SIF); 

c) housing and spatial planning powers, including the development of a statutory 
Spatial Development Strategy and new planning functions; 

d) employment and skills, including devolved Adult Education Budget and 
responsibilities and tailored support for jobseekers; 

e) the LCR is one of three sub regions chosen to pilot the Housing First approach, 
which aims to tackle homelessness in a radical new way; 

f) powers over a devolved and consolidated multi-year funding package; and 
g) cross-cutting priorities around the low carbon economy, culture and fairness & 

social justice 
 
1.4 The LCRCA‟s goal is to drive prosperity, encourage innovation and expand 

opportunities for people and communities in every part of the city region.  It will do 
this by becoming a clean, healthy and net zero carbon-emitting city region by 2040. 

 
1.5 The immediate priority for the LCRCA is addressing and responding to the 

challenges presented by the ongoing COVID-19 emergency.  The city region has 
developed its Economic Recovery Plan and which has been followed-up by a 
complementary submission to the Comprehensive Spending Review.   

 
1.6 The magnitude and impact of the COVID-19 emergency remains uncertain, as does 

the degree of scarring it could have on economy and society.   The LCRCA will  
accelerate efforts during these unprecedented times to develop recovery plans from 
the harm imposed by the pandemic.  The links between health, air quality and all 
aspects of our lives have never been more stark, and the case for change is even 

Page 63



CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

Page 2 of 5 

more compelling.  This means “building back better” and not return to trends and 
assumptions of old. 

 
 
2 Views on the proposals 

 
2.1 In light of the context set out above, and the LCRCA‟s clear ambitions to “build back 

better” from the COVID-19 crisis, the LCRCA welcomes the ambition by Government 
to radically improve conditions for pedestrians and road users, and to mainstream 
walking and cycling for all the first choice.  The recognition that inconsiderate 
pavement parking is a physical barrier in achieving these aims, and a danger to road 
users alike is important.  Creating a mix of measures that help tackle problems, to 
create conditions that are conducive to making walking and cycling the travel choices 
of choice, is vitally important and is to be welcomed. 

 

2.2 The government‟s wider aims in respect of walking and cycling accord fully with those 
of the LCRCA in respect of decarbonisation, improving air quality, improving health 
and equality of access to all.  Walking and cycling are integral to these aims, as set in 
a range of delivery strategies including:-  
 

 the Combined Authority Transport Plan 

 the Local Journeys Strategy and  

 the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan  
 

2.3 The LCWIP sets out a ten year plan of action to deliver a prioritised network of 31 
corridors and 600km of cycling and walking routes.  In addition, the LCRCA is closely 
engaged with Sustrans on developing the Liveable Neighbourhoods concept and are 
piloting an e-scooter trial within Liverpool.  Improving the safety of all road users is 
also a statutory duty, and high moral priority for the LCRCA and its constituent 
authorities. 
 

2.3 It is recognised that inconsiderate pavement parking leads to dangers for all road 
users and also adversely affects the appearance, safety, and structural condition, of 
kerbs, grass verges and pavements.  One of the LCR‟s smaller unitary authorities 
estimates that some 75% of its spend of nearly £2 million on pavement repairs over 
the past five years can be attributed to pavement parking.  Roads and pavements 
blighted by inconsiderately parked cars are also a barrier to walking and to cycling.  
In this new COVID-19 pandemic context, there is an added dimension that 
inconsiderate pavement parking can undermine measures to ensure social 
distancing on the pavement, by forcing pedestrians closer together than is otherwise 
safe.  
 

2.4 But the issues are complex, and challenges could equally remain if pavement parking 
is restricted in some cases.  For example, restrictions could hinder access for refuse 
and emergency service vehicles, or make access and egress to private driveways 
more difficult or dangerous.  Equally, the Liverpool City Region houses large 
numbers of traditional streets of terraced housing, and where blanket bans on 
pavement parking would not be workable, given the inherent constraints of the 

Page 64

https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/LCRCA-TRANSPORT-PLAN.pdf
https://www.merseytravel.gov.uk/about-us/local-transport-delivery/Documents/Local%20Journeys%20Strategy-FINAL.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s41660/Enc.%201%20for%20Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Local%20Cycling%20and%20Walking%20Infrastructure%20Plan.pdf


CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

Page 3 of 5 

highway infrastructure,  For all these reasons, identifying a long-term, sustainable 
and workable solution to this longstanding problem is important. 
 

2.5 The LCRCA notes the three options set out in the consultation of potential legislative 
changes:-  
 

1) Improving the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) process, under which local 
authorities can already prohibit pavement parking.   

2) A legislative change to allow local authorities with civil parking enforcement 
powers to enforce against „unnecessary obstruction of the pavement‟.  

3) A legislative change to introduce a London-style pavement parking prohibition 
throughout England. 
 

2.6 The first option relating to the improvement of the TRO process has some merit.  
Indeed, updating and improving the operation and efficiency of the TRO process is a 
wider priority that extends beyond the issue of pavement parking directly.  
Progressing TROs can take between 6 - 8 weeks, dependent on the number of 
objections during consultation, and which can run to months if a proposal is 
particularly controversial.  Managing such processes is also inherently resource-
intensive for local authorities, and thus costly.  
 

2.7 There will be very significant legal costs associated with this option.  For example, 
taking a mid-sized LCR unitary authority with a resident population of 300,000 
people, and assuming that some 10% of pavements of the authority‟s pavements are 
suited for footway parking, the costs of surveying, designing and implementing 
suitable measures through legislative orders and associated signs and lines will be 
very sizeable.  Indeed it has been estimated that the cost alone of taking forward the 
required number of TROs would probably prove double the authority‟s current levels 
of spend on TROs.   On balance, as a means of managing the problems of pavement 
parking, the option is not in itself considered sufficient and should be co-ordinated 
and implemented with the second option set out in the consultation 
 

2.8 The potential impact of Option 3, and a London-style prohibition is not 
supported.  Although it has the benefit of providing clarity, and parity across England 
it is considered an unduly stringent and inflexible approach and liable to generate 
very significant revenue pressures for local authorities, greatly exceeding any likely 
levels of income fixed penalties.  The approach would require detailed, high time-
consuming surveys and audits of all streets, and necessitate the erection of 
regulatory signs to inform drivers of the prohibition, restriction or exemption.  
Notwithstanding the importance of tackling the problem of inconsiderate pavement 
parking, there is a risk that a blanket approach merely transfers the problem from 
pavement obstruction to carriageway obstruction and that the dis-benefits associated 
with vehicle idling and road safety could remain, and potentially, get worse.  As noted 
above, a blanket approach may also hinder passage by larger emergency or refuse 
vehicles to otherwise narrow streets. 
 

2.9 The preference of the LCRCA and its constituent local authorities is Option 2 
and a legislative change to allow local authorities with civil parking 
enforcement powers to enforce against ‘unnecessary obstruction of the 

Page 65



CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

Page 4 of 5 

pavement’.   This brings additional freedoms for local authorities with civil parking 
enforcement powers to enforce against unnecessary obstruction, especially in 
problematic hotpots.  It is noted that this may need to be implemented in partnership 
with the Police authorities as there will be some situations where the obstruction is a 
criminal matter.  However, Option 2 is wholly consistent with devolution principles, 
and providing enabling powers to local authorities, to tailor their approaches and 
solutions in response to local need and circumstances.  It would allow local areas to 
determine when a contravention would occur in the event that a minimum width (e.g. 
1.5 metres) for pedestrians to pass became impeded.   
 

2.10 That said, as there is likely to be high demand from residents to have pavement 
parking controls implemented on roads, there would be merit in the legislation setting 
out high level principles as to where pavement parking cannot be accommodated for 
safety or operational reasons, so as to provide a framework.  Related to this, a 
national definition for “unobstructed parking”, and similarly, clarity around 
“unnecessary obstruction” at a national level needs to be consulted upon, and agreed 
with the legal profession.  This should differentiate between cities, towns and rural 
areas. This must be clear and simple for Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) to 
understand on-site, so that it won‟t be challenged after a Penalty Change Notice is 
issued. The guidance suggests scenarios will suffice, but experience of managing 
decriminalised parking suggests that definitions that are open to interpretation will be 
challenged leading to increased and unnecessary administrative challenges. 
 

2.11 There are a series of wider, practical or procedural considerations that will need to be 
addressed in taking forward this options, however.  Firstly, a simple and inexpensive 
system is needed to show highway users where pavement parking is prohibited. The 
guidance suggests that unnecessary obstruction will not need signs/markings, but 
this could lead to uncertainty and challenges.  The use of warning notices in place of 
Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) is not supported either, as this will undoubtedly lead 
to challenges from offenders issued with PCN who would contend that a warning 
notice ought to have been issued.  This will make the process more complex and 
cumbersome and could place greater pressures on the Traffic Penalty Tribunal, as 
the adjudication body. 
 

2.12 The guidance suggests that there will be an exemption where it can be proved that a 
vehicle had been used for loading and unloading goods (for up to 20 minutes, or 
longer if the authority permits it).  It is considered there should be no exemption for 
this as loading/unloading vehicles are a major problem for pavement users.  A grace 
period could also lead to reasonable challenges by those issued with fines as to why 
they were not give a 20 minute free period.  Enforcing time limited legislation is also 
time consuming and inefficient as CEOs need to return to the location at the end of 
the set period. 

 

2.13 In relation to potential exemptions in Annex B to the document for breakdown or 
emergency service vehicles, highway maintenance vehicles and utility maintenance 
vehicles it is considered that this should be refined to state that the exemption should 
apply only “while working on or from the highway”.    
 

Page 66



CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

Page 5 of 5 

2.14 Neither does the LCRCA and its partner authorities support an exemptions in Annex 
B to “postal services”.  Current working practice is for postal vans to be driven to an 
area and parked up while postal workers deliver to an area before returning and 
moving to their next area.  This practice results in postal vans being able to block 
pavements for some time and undermine the aims of the proposal. 
 

2.15 It is agreed that Blue Badge holders should not be exempted either, given that 
holders are already entitled to park on sections of the highway that are otherwise 
prohibited, and in ways that do not necessitate parking on the pavement. 
 

2.16 Finally, it is noted that there is some inconsistency in the consultation on the use of 
the options numbering, which does not aid the clarity of the consultation or the read-
across into the associated impact assessment. 
 
 

3. Conclusion 
 

To go here 

 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:      The Chair and Members of the Transport Committee  
 
Meeting:     5 November 2020 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF POLICY AND STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING 
 

RESPONDING TO GREATER MANCHESTER’S CLEAN AIR PLAN 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1. This report alerts members of the Transport Committee to a consultation by the ten 

Greater Manchester Local Authorities in respect of plans to declare a Clean Air 
Zone (CAZ) for the Greater Manchester Combined Authority area. 
 

1.2. This report proposes the development of a response to the consultation, given the 
cross-boundary and wider strategic implications for the Liverpool City Region.   
 

1.3. In view of the timing of the consultation process, with a deadline that precedes the 
date of the next Transport Committee meeting in December by just a few days, 
delegated authority is sought to allow the development and submission of a 
response.  This delegation will be exercised in full consultation with the Chair and 
Members of the Transport Committee, to provide the opportunity for members to be 
engaged in the development of the response. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. It is recommended that the Combined Authority‟s Transport Committee: 
 

(a) notes the issues raised by Greater Manchester‟s plans to declare a Clean Air 
Zone across the Greater Manchester conurbation; 
 

(b) agrees to delegate authority to the Director of Policy & Strategic Commissioning, 
in full consultation with the Chair of the Transport Committee, to develop and 
submit this response ahead of the deadline of 3 December 2020. 
 

  

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In common with many large city regions and cities, Greater Manchester has 

experienced longstanding challenges as a result of poor air quality.  The main 
source of pollution is nitrogen dioxide emitted by petrol and diesel engines.  Greater 
Manchester‟s air quality plans have been designed on a collaborative basis 
between all ten constituent authorities of Greater Manchester, supported by 
Transport for Greater Manchester.  This was intended to avoid individual and 
unworkable localised proposals from the affected constituent local authorities.   

 
3.2 The ten Greater Manchester local authorities have since been directed by 

Government to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone (CAZ) across the city region.  
This is to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels on local roads within legal limits in “the 
shortest time possible” and by 2024 at the latest.  Formal consultation on the 
proposals is now underway.  

 
3.3 Greater Manchester‟s proposals would mean that vehicles that do not comply with 

the required emissions standards would pay a daily charge for each day on which 
they drive into, out of, within or through the CAZ. It is important to note that the 
Greater Manchester CAZ does not include private cars.  Failure to pay the daily 
charge would result in the issue of a penalty charge notice requiring an additional 
payment.  All roads within the conurbation would be included in the CAZ, with the 
exception of roads managed by Highways England (e.g. the M60 orbital motorway). 

 
3.4 Greater Manchester is requesting a package of funding from Government totalling 

over £150m to support owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles with 
the cost of upgrading to compliant vehicles. This funding aims to mitigate negative 
social and economic effects on businesses and individuals most affected by the 
CAZ. 

 
3.5 The briefing note attached in Appendix One to this report sets out these proposals 

in further depth and further information can also be obtained at 
https://cleanairgm.com/ 

 
 
3.6 For clarity, Liverpool City Council is included in a later wave of „mandated‟ cities and 

is required to assess a range of options in response to its poor air quality.  The city 
council is presently working through a detailed study and longlist of options against 
which to secure compliance. 

 
3.7 In accordance with the Combined Authority Constitution (Part 3 - Section F, 

paragraph 7.1 (a) (iii)) the Transport Committee has delegated to it the responsibility 
to submit consultation responses on behalf of the Combined Authority in respect of 
transport and transport related issues.  The development of a Clean Air Zone in 
neighbouring Greater Manchester would fall to be considered within the parameters 
of this delegation.  Any such response will need to be consistent with the transport 
policies of the Combined Authority, the Local Transport Plan.    

  

Page 70



 
4. NEXT STEPS 
 
4.1 It will be noted that the consultation period runs between 8 October and 3 

December.  This makes the development of a response, and securing political 
agreement within the tight timescales challenging, as committee cycles do not 
easily align.  

 
4.2 As such, delegated authority is sought to allow the development and submission of 

a response by the Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning.  This delegation 
will be exercised in full consultation with the Chair of the Transport Committee, in 
his capacity as Portfolio lead for Transport and Air Quality 

 
4.3 It is proposed that the broad thrust of the response to Greater Manchester‟s plans 

should be consistent with earlier discussions and engagement, including 
discussions amongst members of the LCR‟s Air Quality Task Force.  It is 
considered prudent for the response to welcome Greater Manchester‟s commitment 
in principle to tackling the problems associated with poor air quality, whilst also 
highlighting and minimising potential adverse implications for Liverpool City Region 
and its constituent local authorities.   

 
4.4 This will include consideration of the risk of non-compliant traffic diverting through 

bordering areas of Liverpool City Region, especially into St Helens.  There will also 
be implications if commercial vehicle fleets or depots are redistributed across the 
region, and that older, non-compliant vehicle fleets are cascaded to adjoining local 
authority acres, moving problems elsewhere, in effect.   

 
4.5 A further implication to consider will be the potential financial impacts for businesses 

operating beyond the city region in CAZs across the North West and the Midlands 
each with different criteria, pricing structures and penalties and the associated risk 
of confusion. 

 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 
5.1 There are no direct implications as a result of this report. 
 

The proposals in Greater Manchester could have direct and indirect financial 
implications for the Liverpool City Region if older vehicle fleets are redistributed to 
the LCR to avoid the payment of CAZ charges in Greater Manchester, for example. 

 
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1. As per (5) above with the risk that the proposals could move the problem to 

adjoining areas if not managed carefully and collaboratively. 
  

Page 71



 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Non-compliant vehicles travelling into the Greater Manchester CAZ from the LCR 

would be required to pay a charge.  This could have a disproportionate impact on 
less affluent individuals or organisations using older vehicles, especially amongst 
small or micro-level businesses.  It is also known that disadvantaged communities 
are typically those that are most adversely affected by poor air quality and poor 
health. 

 
 
8. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
8.1. The plans in Greater Manchester have been subject to a detailed communications 

plan and process of engagement since 2018.  In view of the cross-boundary 
impacts, there will be a need to carefully communicate the proposal to across the 
city region and constituent local authorities if a CAZ is implemented. 

 

9. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
  
9.1 No implications 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1. This report summarises a consultation by the ten Greater Manchester Local 

Authorities in respect of plans to declare a Clean Air Zone (CAZ) for the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority area. 
 

10.2. The report proposes the development of a response to the consultation, given the 
cross-boundary and wider strategic implications for the Liverpool City Region, in 
order to highlight and minimise potentially adverse implications for the LCR and its 
constituent local authorities.    
 

10.3. In view of the timing of the consultation, delegated authority is sought to allow the 
development and submission of a response by the Director of Policy and Strategic 
Commissioning.  This delegation will be exercised in full consultation with the Chair 
of the Transport Committee. 

 
 

KIRSTY MCLEAN 
Director of Policy and Strategic Commissioning 

 
Contact Officer(s):  Huw Jenkins, Lead Officer – Transport Policy, LCRCA 
 
Appendix: 
Appendix One – Greater Manchester briefing document on the Clean Air Zone proposal 
 
Background Documents: 
None 

Page 72



Introduction
Greater Manchester (GM) needs to take action to improve air quality, now and for future 
generations. Air pollution is linked to a range of very serious health conditions. 
It contributes to the equivalent of around 1,200 early deaths in GM every year, harming 
our health.

Government has directed GM to introduce a Category C Clean Air Zone across the 
region, to bring nitrogen dioxide (NO

2
) levels on local roads within legal limits in “the 

shortest time possible” and by 2024 at the latest.

As air pollution does not respect geographic boundaries, all 10 local authority areas have 
worked together to develop a joint Clean Air Plan to improve air quality. 

GM is now consulting on the key elements of the proposals, including proposed daily 
Clean Air Zone charges, discounts and exemptions, and the proposals for a multi-million 
pound funding package to support local businesses to upgrade to cleaner vehicles.

There is now a requirement under the Transport Act 2000 to consult “such local persons 
as [the GM authorities] consider appropriate about the charging scheme”.

Clean Air Plan consultation
Between 8 October and 3 December 2020, GM is holding a statutory public consultation 
on the key elements of the charging Clean Air Zone, and the proposals for the 
supporting funds. At the same time, the ten GM local authorities are asking for views on 
the proposed vehicle standards for hackney carriages and private hire services during 
a consultation on the GM Minimum Licensing Standards. This will allow everyone with 
an interest to have a complete view of all the proposed changes to vehicles, and the 
potential support available for vehicle upgrades.

The consultations and supporting engagement activity will adhere to the government 
COVID-19 guidance around social distancing, while ensuring that residents, businesses 
and visitors can engage with the consultation materials and respond in a meaningful way.

The impacts of COVID-19
The Government has asked GM to continue to progress the Clean Air Plan, and to 
undertake the consultation, based on proposals developed before the COVID-19 
pandemic that showed compliance would be achieved by 2024.

GM is assessing the possible effects of COVID-19 on the Clean Air Plan and 
the consultation is asking questions about the impact of COVID-19 on impacted 
groups. This information will inform future decisions on each aspect of the 
final plan.

Greater Manchester 
Clean Air Plan 
October 2020 

BUS 2 42

C

Charges apply
pay online

Clean air

ZONE

Greater
Manchester

PCV 1

PHV 1 PV0001

Page 73



OLDHAM

ROCHDALE

BURY
BOLTON

WIGAN

SALFORD

TRAFFORD

MANCHESTER

STOCKPORT

TAMESIDE

Greater 
Manchester/ 
proposed 
Clean Air Zone 
boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

What is a Clean Air Zone?

This is a designated area which certain 
higher pollution vehicles would pay a 
charge to drive into and within.

Vehicles which do not comply with the 
required emissions standards would pay 
a daily charge for each day on which 
they drive into, out of, within or through 
the Clean Air Zone. Failure to pay the 
daily charge would result in the issue of 

a penalty charge notice (PCN) requiring 
an additional payment.

A Clean Air Zone is not the same as a 
Congestion Charge Zone. The purpose 
of a Clean Air Zone is to improve air 
quality by encouraging drivers to 
upgrade to a cleaner vehicle. It is not 
designed to tackle congestion.

Proposed daily charges for non-compliant vehicles
Vehicle type Updated proposed charge at consultation

  
                          Buses and coaches

 
£60

    Taxis/private hire vehicles £7.50

                          HGVs 

 

£60

               Vans and minibuses £10

Failure to pay the daily charge would result in a penalty charge notice (PCN) of £120, in addition to the daily charge.

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

BLACKBURN
WITH

DARWEN

MERSEYSIDE

WARRINGTON

CHESHIRE EAST

DERBYSHIRE

WEST
YORKSHIRE

LANCASHIRE

LANCASHIRE

CHESHIRE WEST
AND CHESTER

WIGAN

BOLTON
BURY

ROCHDALE

OLDHAM

TAMESIDE

STOCKPORT

TRAFFORD

SALFORD

M
AN

CH
ES

TE
R

Greater Manchester/
proposed Clean Air 
Zone boundary

Contains OS data © Crown copyright and database right 2018

Where will the Clean 
Air Zone cover?
All roads within GM will be 
included in the Clean Air Zone, 
with the exception of those 
roads managed by Highways 
England, such as motorways 
and trunk roads. You can 
see this in detail by visiting 
cleanairgm.com/clean-air-
zone-map

How will it operate?
It’ll run 7 days a week, 24 hours a day. Those vehicles liable to pay the charge 
would pay using the Government’s online portal.

Discounts and exemptions will be put in place for some vehicle types. Some 
exemptions are temporary, some are permanent and some are for vehicles licensed 
with the Greater Manchester Authorities only. 

Page 74



Clean vehicle funding support
GM is requesting a package of funding from Government totalling over £150m to 
support owners or registered keepers of non-compliant vehicles with the cost of 
upgrading to compliant vehicles.

Of the total request, so far £41m has been confirmed by Government and further awards 
are anticipated. This funding aims to mitigate negative social and economic effects on 
businesses and individuals most affected by the GM Clean Air Zone.

The funding proposals are a Clean Commercial Fund, a Clean Taxi Fund a Clean Bus 
Fund and a Hardship Fund. There are also proposals for a ‘try before you buy’ electric 
hackney carriage trial scheme and electric vehicle charging points across the city-region, 
which would be for use by hackney carriages and private hire vehicles (PHV) only.

*Available for vehicles registered in GM, small and micro businesses, sole traders, charities and social enterprises, private owners, initially targeted 
towards individuals and the smallest businesses with the oldest vehicles.

Proposed support for those eligible 
and have a non-compliant bus which is 
used on a registered bus service in GM.

Grant of up to £16,000 per vehicle for 
replacement or retrofit.

Bus operators will not be offered 
access to the vehicle finance scheme.

No proposed cap on number of 
vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant van.*

A grant of £3,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant coach.*

Grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
retrofit or vehicle finance 
contribution.

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant minibus.*

A grant of up to £5,000 
for replacement or vehicle 
finance contribution for 
replacement of minibuses 
(which are not licensed 
taxis or PHVs or used on  
a registered bus service  
in GM). 

Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant.

BusesBUS 2

192

Hackney 
carriages

TA XI

CAB 1
HV0001

Private hire 
vehicles

PHV 1 PV0001

Heavy Goods 
VehiclesLGV 1VansLGV 2 CoachesPCV 2 Minibuses

PCV 1

Proposed support for 
those eligible with a non-
compliant HGV.*

A grant of up to £5,500 per 
vehicle for replacement or 
vehicle finance contribution. 
Limit of 10 vehicles per 
applicant. 

A grant of up to £16,000 per 
vehicle for retrofit. Limit of 
five vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant hackney carriage 
licensed with the GM authorities.

£10,000 per vehicle for a running 
costs grant or a contribution for 
vehicle finance, for a replacement 
zero emissions capable wheelchair 
accessible vehicle.

£5,000 grant towards an LPG retrofit.

UK government grant available of up 
to £7,500 for purchasing a new zero 
emissions capable vehicle.

Limit of eight vehicles per applicant.

Proposed support for those eligible 
with a non-compliant private hire 
vehicle licensed with the GM authorities.

£1,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
compliant petrol or diesel vehicle.

£2,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement to a 
hybrid or plug-in hybrid.

£2,500 running costs grant for 
replacement with a zero emissions 
capable vehicle.

£5,000 grant or vehicle finance 
contribution towards replacement of a 
minibus or Wheelchair accessible vehicle.

Limit of 10 vehicles per applicant.

or

or

or

or

or

Page 75



Strategic Outline 
Business Case

• 96 measures 
identified in a 
long list

• Sifting exercise 
reduced this to 
17 and then 14 
measures

Target determination 

• Agreed with 
Government the 
extent of the air 
quality problem 

• Modelling shows that 
illegal levels of NO2 
will span all GM local 
authorities in 2021 if 
no action is taken 

Measure development  

• Options combining 
the shortlisted 
measures were 
developed and 
assessed to 
determine which 
delivered compliance 
in the shortest 
possible time 

Outline 
Business Case  

• GM determined the 
best-performing 
option to reduce 

NO2 across GM: 

• A charging catergory 
C Clean Air Zone 
(CAZ)

• Funds to support 
business upgrade 

• Electric vehicle 
charging 
infrastructure and 
promotion 

• Sustainable Journeys 
(behaviour change 
activity) 

• Consider loan 
finance

MARCH 2018 OCTOBER 2018 MARCH 2019

Public conversation 
on proposals

• Over 3,300 
responses 

• Nearly 70% 
of individuals 
supported the 
proposals 

• Businesses thought 
the proposals would 
have a negative 
effect on the 
economy (54%), 
and two-thirds felt 
they would have a 
negative impact on 
their business

Government response 

• Government 
directed all 10 GM 
local authorities 
to implement a 
catergory C charging 
Clean Air Zone with 
additional measures 
and provided further 
£36m funding

• Government 
requests further 
options appraisal 
information to be 
submitted 

Development of 
proposals   

• 32 briefing notes 
and eight technical 
reports submitted 

• Ongoing dialogue 
with Government 
about the funding 
packages to support 
impacted groups 

• Ongoing 
development of 
proposals

Government response    
and COVID-19

• Government 
provides initial 
tranche of £41m 
funding to support 
businesses to 
upgrade to cleaner 
vehicles

• COVID-19 pandemic 
leads to nationwide 
'lockdown'

MAY/JUNE 2019

JULY 2019 JULY 2019 MARCH 2020

Statutory consultation

• GM Clean Air Plan 
consultation starts 
running for 
eight weeks

Consultation Findings 
Reported 

• Including assessment 
of COVID-19 impacts 
on GM Clean Air Plan

OCTOBER 2020 FEBRUARY 2021*

Final Business Case & 
GM Clean Air Funds 
open 

GM Clean Air Zone 
launches

TBC SPRING 2022*

The journey to consultation
Here is a timeline of the activity to date on the GM Clean Air Plan and the timing for 
delivering the final plan.

Find out more
For support to respond to this consultation or to request copies of the summary 
document and questionnaire please contact info@cleanairgm.com or 0161 244 1100. 

Support for non-English speakers is available on 0161 244 1100. For further information 
on the GM Clean Air Plan and to sign up for future updates, visit cleanairgm.com or 
email info@cleanairgm.com

For media enquiries, call 0161 244 1055 or email info@cleanairgm.com

* To be confirmed

Page 76


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Transforming Cities Fund Update
	Appendix 1 Transforming Cities Fund Update

	5 Prioritising Hydrogen buses in the Liverpool City Region
	6 Mersey Ferries Update Report November 2020
	7 Multi Operator Ticketing Scheme - Product and Pricing Update and Proposals
	Enc. 1 for Multi Operator Ticketing Prices 2021

	8 Merseytravel Q2 Financial Performance Report
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	9 Responding to the Department for Transport's Consultation on Pavement Parking
	Enc. 1 for Responding to Pavement Parking consultation

	10 Responding to Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan
	Enc. 1 for Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plans


